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Caution Regarding Forward Looking Statements

Statements in this Form 10-K relating to management's views of trends,
the effects of changing prices, plans, objectives and other matters for future
operating periods are "forward looking statements" as defined in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward looking statements are
subject to significant risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially from the results in the statements. Forward looking
statements relating to Raytech Corporation's businesses are based on assumptions
concerning certain factors that are not predictable and are subject to change.
These factors include general economic conditions, worldwide demand for
automotive and heavy duty vehicles, consumer confidence, actions of our
competitors, vendors and customers, factors affecting our costs such as raw



Edgar Filing: RAYTECH CORP - Form 10-K

material prices, labor relations and environmental compliance and remediation,
interest and foreign currency exchange rates, technological issues, accounting
standards, and the risks set forth in the section entitled "Risk Factors." The
forward-looking statements herein are made as of the date of this report. We
have no obligation to update our forward looking statements.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
General

Raytech Corporation ("Raytech" or the "Company") develops, manufactures
and supplies specialty engineered friction and energy absorption components used
in o0il immersed (wet) and dry transmission and brake systems for on- and
off-road vehicles. The Company also makes and markets specialty engineered
products for heat resistant, inertia control, and energy absorption
applications. The Company's products are typically found in passenger cars,
heavy duty construction and agricultural equipment, trucks, buses and in
logging, mining and military vehicles. Unless the context indicates otherwise,
all references herein to Raytech or the Company include the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Company's operations are categorized into three business
segments: Wet Friction, Dry Friction and Aftermarket.

The Wet Friction segment's products are used in an oil immersed (wet)
environment. Wet Friction products are primarily used in original equipment
vehicular automatic transmissions and braking systems for off-road heavy duty
equipment. The Company markets its products to automobile, heavy duty truck,
farm machinery, mining, truck, bus and military vehicle original equipment
manufacturers ("OEMs").

The Dry Friction segment's products are used in a dry rather than an
01l immersed environment. Dry Friction products are primarily used in original
equipment and aftermarket automobile and truck manual transmissions. The clutch
facings produced by this segment are marketed to system assemblers who sell to
OEMs and aftermarket rebuilders.

The Aftermarket segment produces products used for wet friction
applications, primarily plates and friction materials for automobile and light
truck transmissions. This segment also markets transmission filters and other
transmission related components to warehouse distributors and certain retail
operations in the automotive aftermarket.

In fiscal 2003, the Company recorded an operating loss of $57.5
million. The operating loss included an impairment charge of $48.8 million. The
remaining operating loss of $8.7 million can be attributed primarily to losses
incurred in the Wet Friction segment offset by earnings in the aftermarket and
Dry Friction segment. The losses sustained in the Wet Friction operations led
the Company to conduct an impairment analysis of its goodwill and other
intangibles in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" and further to conduct
an impairment analysis of its long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets." The Company
with the assistance of a third party valuation firm developed a model that was
used by the Company to evaluate the future cash flows associated with the assets
and the impact on the current carrying values. The result of the analysis was
the impairment charge of $48.8 million of which $11.0 million was related to
long-lived tangible assets and $37.8 million was related to goodwill and other
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intangible assets. See notes D and E in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements contained in this report.

Raytech was incorporated in June 1986 in Delaware and held as a
subsidiary of Raymark Corporation ("Raymark"). In October 1986, Raytech became
the publicly traded, New York Stock Exchange holding company of Raymark stock
through a triangular merger restructuring plan approved by Raymark's
shareholders whereby each share of common stock of Raymark was automatically
converted into a share of Raytech common stock. In May 1988, Raytech divested
all of the Raymark stock. In accordance with the restructuring plan, Raytech,
through its subsidiaries, purchased certain non-asbestos businesses of Raymark.
Despite the restructuring plan implementation and subsequent divestiture of
Raymark, Raytech was named a co-defendant with Raymark and other named
defendants in numerous asbestos-related lawsuits as a successor in liability to
Raymark. In order to stay the asbestos-related litigation, on March 10, 1989,
Raytech filed a petition seeking relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11, United
States Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court, District of Connecticut.
April 2001, Raytech emerged from protection of the Bankruptcy Court under
Chapter 11 of Title 11, United States Code. Certain asbestos personal injury
claims and certain environmental claims were discharged at the reorganization
date in exchange for cash and equity of 37,058,900 shares, representing 89.2% of
the Company's outstanding common stock at that time.

In

The effective date of the Company's emergence from bankruptcy was April
18, 2001; however, for accounting purposes, the reorganization and related
fresh-start adjustments have been recorded as of April 2, 2001. All financial
information prior to that date is presented as pertaining to the Predecessor
Company, while all financial information after that date is presented as
pertaining to the Successor Company.

The percentage of net sales for each segment of the consolidated net
sales over the past three years is as follows:

Successor Company

For the Period

December 28, December 29, April 3, 2001 to

2003 2002 December 30, 2001
Wet Friction operations 57% 61% 61%
Dry Friction operations 21% 17% 15%
Aftermarket operations 22% 22% 24%

The sales, gross profit, operating profit (loss) and other financial
information pertaining to the operation of the business segments is contained in
Note H Segment Reporting in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
of the Company.

The Company's executive offices are located in Shelton, Connecticut.
Information about the Company, including its filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, is available on the Internet at www.raytech.com.

Risk Factors

Predecessor Compa

For the Period

January 1, 2001
to April 2, 200
62%
14%
24%
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The Company's businesses are subject to certain risks that could cause
material changes in its results of operations or financial condition in the
future. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Risk Factors" for a more detailed description of these
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risks.
Sales Methods

The Wet Friction operations, predominantly in the United States, serve
the on-highway and off-highway vehicular markets through sale of products to
OEM's of automobiles, heavy duty trucks, buses, construction and mining
equipment and agricultural machinery, and through distributors supplying
components and replacement parts for these vehicles. The Wet Friction segment
sells certain products to the Aftermarket segment, which, in turn, distributes
these products to warehouse distributors in the aftermarket.

The Dry Friction operation sells clutch facings to manual transmission
system assemblers who, in turn, supply the OEM market and aftermarket in Europe
and the Far East.

The Aftermarket segment sells its products primarily to warehouse
distributors and in certain instances directly to retail outlets predominantly
in the United States.

Sales are made in all segments by Company sales representatives. Sales
are made under standard sales contracts for all or a portion of a customer's
products over a period of time or on an open order basis and may include price
commitments for multiple years.

Raytech's products are sold around the world, through export from its
U.S. plants, through its wholly-owned manufacturing subsidiaries in Germany, the
United Kingdom and China, and through distributors.

Raw Material Availability

The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of the Company's
energy absorption and transmission products include cold-rolled steel, metal
powders, synthetic resins, plastics and synthetic and natural fibers. All of
these materials are available from a number of competitive suppliers. The
availability of global steel supplies may impact both the availability of raw
materials and price of these materials. In 2004, worldwide increases in steel
demand have led to increased prices and concerns of a steel shortage. Potential
impacts on the Company from the current steel market conditions could include
reduced delivery levels of finished products to Raybestos customers and lower
profitability due to higher raw material costs.

Patents and Trademarks

Raytech owns a number of patents, both foreign and domestic. Such
patents expire between 2004 and 2018. In the opinion of management, the business
is not dependent upon the protection of any of its patents and would not be
materially affected by the expiration of any of such patents.

Raytech operates under a number of registered and common law
trademarks, including the trademark "RAYBESTOS." Certain trademarks have been
licensed to others on a limited basis. Some trademarks are registered
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internationally.
Competition
The automotive parts industry is extremely competitive. Each of the
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Company's operating segments competes with several other manufacturers that
produce and sell similar products. Some of the Company's competitors are
considerably larger and have substantially greater financial resources than the
Company. The Wet Friction marketplace is comprised of four major competitors,
including the Company. The Company has one major competitor in the European Dry
Friction marketplace and competes with several Chinese and other Asian based
manufacturers in the Asian market. In the European Dry Friction market, several
of the Company's customers are also competitors. There are five major
competitors, including the Company, in the Aftermarket segment. Raytech believes
that it is competitive in all markets in which it is engaged due to its brand
recognition, product quality, service and price.

Significant Customers

During the years presented, sales to the following customers were
greater than 10 percent of the Company's consolidated sales:

Successor Company Predecessor Compa

———————————————————————————— For the Period For the Period
December 28, December 29, April 3, 2001 to January 1, 2001
2003 2002 December 30, 2001 to April 2, 200
DaimlerChrysler 12.4% 14.4% 14.0% 13.8%
Caterpillar 9.5% 11.4% 14.3% 13.2%
Backlog

Sales backlog at the end of fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, by segment, was
as follows:

(in millions)

2003 2002 2001
Wet Friction S 76.7 S 78.5 $ 69.7
Dry Friction 12.3 8.7 2.7
Aftermarket 1.5 2.0 1.9
Total $ 90.5 $ 89.2 $ 74.3

The Company expects that the current backlog will be filled during
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Employees

At December 28, 2003, Raytech employed 1,565 employees, compared with
1,593 employees at the end of 2002. Raytech has agreements with labor unions
relating to wages, hours, fringe benefits and other conditions of employment
which cover most of its production employees. The term of the labor contract at
Raybestos Products Company ("RPC") in Crawfordsville, Indiana, is due to expire
in May 2006. The term of the labor contract at Raybestos Automotive Components
Company ("RACC") in Sterling Heights, Michigan, is due to expire in October
2004. The Company's German subsidiary is a member of an industry employers'
association that is party to various employee union contracts on behalf of its
members. The current contract covering German employees' wages continues through
February 2005.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures for the Successor Company were $9.0 million and
$9.6 million for fiscal years 2003 and 2002 and $7.5 million for the period
April 3, 2001 to December 30, 2001. Capital expenditures for the Predecessor
Company were $2.7 million for the period January 1, 2001 to April 2, 2001.
Capital expenditures for 2004 are budgeted at $10.0 million.

Research and Development

Research and development costs for the Successor Company were
approximately $7.2 million and $7.3 million in fiscal years 2003 and 2002,
respectively, and $5.3 million for the period April 3, 2001 to December 30,
2001. Research and development costs for the Predecessor Company were $1.7
million for the period January 1, 2001 to April 2, 2001. Separate research and
development facilities are maintained at appropriate manufacturing plants for
developing new products, improving existing production techniques and supplying
technical service to the business units and customers. Research and development
costs for 2004 are budgeted at $6.6 million.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and
regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or
otherwise relating to the protection of the environment ("Environmental Laws").
The cost to the Company of complying with these Environmental Laws was
approximately $1.1 million during 2003, and it is projected at $1.1 million for
2004. Estimated capital expenditures for environmental control facilities for
2004 are budgeted to be $0.6 million.

The compliance costs noted above exclude remediation costs incurred by

the Company for the same periods. See Item 3 - Legal Proceedings for a full
description of remediation costs.

Item 2. Properties

The Company, through its three operating segments, conducts
business at the following facilities:
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The Wet Friction operation has facilities in Crawfordsville,
Indiana; Sterling Heights, Michigan; and Liverpool, England. The Crawfordsville,
Indiana, facility is owned and consists of approximately 461,000 square feet of
office, production, research and warehousing space. The Sterling Heights,
Michigan, facility is owned and consists of approximately 111,000 square feet of
office, production, research and warehousing space. The Liverpool, England,
facility is leased and consists of 52,000 square feet of office, production, and
warehousing space. The Wet Friction operation also leases sales office space in
Leverkusen, Germany, Peoria, Illinois, and Japan and leases an administrative
office in Indianapolis, Indiana.

The Dry Friction operation has facilities in Morbach, Germany,
and Suzhou, China. The Morbach, Germany, facility is owned and consists of
108,000 square feet of office, production, research and warehousing space. The
Suzhou, China, facility is owned and consists of 52,000 square feet of office,
production, and warehousing space on a long-term land lease. In addition, the
segment leases space from the Wet Friction segment at the Liverpool facility.

The Aftermarket operation has two facilities in Sullivan,
Indiana, that are owned and consist of 130,000 and 37,500 square feet of office
and warehousing space. These facilities are underutilized, leaving space for
future demand. A separate Crawfordsville, Indiana, aftermarket facility is owned
and consists of approximately 41,000 square feet. A portion of this facility has
been leased to the Company's Wet Friction segment; the remaining space houses
sales offices. The Aftermarket operation also leases sales office space in
Floral Park, New York.

The Company also leases 7,000 square feet of office space in
Shelton, Connecticut, for its headquarters staff.

The Company believes that its properties are substantially
suitable and adequate and have sufficient production capacity to meet the
reasonably anticipated demand for the Company's products.

— 1 O —
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION
Crawfordsville, Indiana - Shelly's Ditch Contamination Removal

In October 1987, RPC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, purchased a major manufacturing facility (the "RPC Facility") in
Crawfordsville, Indiana. Some time thereafter, the Company learned that the
previous owner of the RPC Facility had disposed of polychlorinated biphenyls
("PCBs") in the ground at the RPC Facility in the mid-1960s and that such PCBs
were leaching from the RPC Facility into an adjacent ditch ("Shelly's Ditch").

In 1996, the Indiana Department of Environmental Management
(the "IDEM") advised RPC that the RPC Facility may have contributed to, and was
potentially responsible for, the release of lead and PCBs found in Shelly's
Ditch. In the late 1990s, RPC and the IDEM entered into an agreed order (the
"Agreed Order") for a risk-based remediation of PCBs and lead in Shelly's Ditch.
When the IDEM later sought to unilaterally withdraw from the Agreed Order, RPC
appealed and the court ordered the IDEM to reinstate the Agreed Order.
Meanwhile, at the IDEM's request, the United States Environmental Protection
Agency (the "EPA") became involved in Shelly's Ditch.
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In December 2000, before the Agreed Order was reinstated, the
EPA issued a Unilateral Administrative Order to RPC under CERCLA (the "EPA
Removal Order") demanding removal of contaminated soils from those Shelly's
Ditch areas identified as Reaches 1 through 3 (the "Site"). The EPA Removal
Order required more work at greater expense than the IDEM Order. Thereafter, RPC
proceeded with the work required under the EPA Removal Order. During the second
quarter of fiscal 2003, a provision of $1.8 million was recorded for the
completion of work required by the EPA Removal Order. By December 28, 2003, RPC
had spent approximately $18.7 million on removal of lead and PCB contaminated
soils from the Site and had accrued $400,000 for potential EPA oversight cost
assessments relating to that work.

On January 9, 2004, the EPA confirmed that RPC had completed
the action required under the EPA Removal Order, including the removal and
proper disposal of Site soils and sediments contaminated with PCBs and lead. In
its confirmation, the EPA noted that RPC would continue to be subject to certain
obligations under that order, including record retention and the payment of
oversight costs. Whether RPC will be required to pay oversight costs relating to
the work under the EPA Removal Order will depend on the outcome of future
negotiations with the EPA and the IDEM regarding potential environmental
remediation downstream of the Site.

Crawfordsville, IN - Environmental Remediation Downstream of
Reaches 1 through 3 of Shelly's Ditch

On May 6, 2003, the EPA indicated that RPC 1is potentially
liable for PCB and lead contamination downstream of the Site. The EPA has not
issued an order to RPC regarding this downstream area. However, during the third
quarter of 2003, the Company began negotiations with the EPA concerning such
possible additional remediation. As a result, during the third quarter of 2003,
the
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Company recorded a $2.4 million provision relating to this potential liability
for future cleanup costs.

—-12-

Crawfordsville, IN - Environmental Remediation and Expenses
relating to the RPC Facility

On May 15, 2001, the EPA issued a Pre-filing Notice and
Opportunity to Confer to RPC (the "Pre-filing Notice"). This notice stated that
the EPA might file a civil action lawsuit against RPC for violations of various
environmental statutes and would offer RPC the opportunity to participate in
pre—-filing negotiations to resolve this matter. The EPA stated that it has
reason to believe that RPC committed violations of the Clean Air Act, Clean
Water Act, Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and Toxic Substances Control
Act and that RPC could be subject to substantial penalties. At that time, the
Company recorded a provision of $.3 million on advice of legal counsel. On
September 3, 2003, the EPA proposed that the parties settle the Pre-filing
Notice. The EPA stated that penalties for violations alleged in the Pre-filing
Notice could total approximately $180 million and suggested the following
resolution: RPC should pay approximately $2.4 million in fines and undertake
compliance activities, on-site investigative work that the EPA estimated would
cost about $1.0 million, and corrective action to resolve the Pre-filing Notice.
The parties have begun preliminary negotiations regarding the potential on-site

10
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investigative work but have not obtained an overall EPA settlement proposal. The
Company recorded a provision of $3.1 million in the year-ended December 28, 2003
based on the EPA position.

Ferndale, MI - Potential Responsibility for Environmental Remediation

In a January 8, 2002 letter, the Michigan Department of
Environmental Quality asserted company responsibility for trichloroethylene
contamination at a Ferndale, Michigan industrial site that Advanced Friction
Materials Company ("AFM") leased from approximately 1974 to 1985. The Company
acquired 47% of the stock of AFM in 1996 and the balance of the shares in 1998.
The Company's liability at this site is indeterminable at this time.

ENVIRONMENTAL LITIGATION
Cost Recovery Actions against Insurers regarding Shelly's Ditch

In 1996, RPC notified its insurers and demanded defense and
indemnity regarding any environmental issues relating to alleged lead and PCB
contamination of Shelly's Ditch. In January 1997, one insurer filed a complaint
in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of Indiana, captioned Reliance
Insurance Company vs. Raybestos Products Company (the "Insurance Case"). The
complaint sought a declaratory judgment that the Reliance Insurance policies do
not provide coverage to RPC for defense and indemnity relating to investigation
and remediation of contamination in Shelly's Ditch. In January 2000, the
District Court rejected Reliance's claims and granted summary Jjudgment to RPC.
In June 2001, Reliance Insurance Company was placed in liquidation in
Pennsylvania. The Company has filed claims in the Reliance liquidation for
recovery of its Shelly's Ditch expenses, but has not received a decision.

In February 2002, RPC filed a third-party complaint in the
Insurance Case against National Union and two other insurance carriers. The
third-party complaint seeks defense and indemnity from the insurers relating to
investigation and remediation of contamination in Shelly's Ditch.
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In February 2004, National Union and its affiliates commenced
an adversary proceeding against the Company, RPC and others by filing a
complaint in U.S. Bankruptcy Court (the "Adversary Proceeding"). In the
Adversary Proceeding, National Union claims that RPC's third-party complaint
against National Union is barred by a January 2002 order of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court in the Raymark Industries, Inc. and Raymark Corporation Chapter 11 cases
(the "Raymark Order"). National Union claims that the Raymark Order prohibited
RPC from pursuing its third-party complaint against National Union and declared
that the National Union insurance policies issued to the Company and RPC have
been exhausted. Also in February 2004, National Union filed a motion in the U.S.
District Court, Southern District of Indiana, asking that court to stay the
Insurance Case against National Union. The outcome of this Adversary Proceeding
and related motion for stay and their effects, if any, on the Insurance Case
against National Union cannot be predicted.

RPC Claims against IDEM

In July 2002, RPC filed an action against the IDEM for breach
of contract claiming damages based on the difference between the costs of
cleanup under the EPA Removal Order and the IDEM Agreed Order. The outcome of

this litigation cannot be predicted.

COMMERCIAL LITIGATION

11
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On April 22, 2003, Automation by Design, Inc. filed a civil
action against RPC in U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Indiana.
The complaint alleges copyright infringement and breach of contract in
connection with RPC's purchase of certain equipment. In answer to plaintiff's
complaint, RPC denied liability and filed counterclaims for breach of contract
and declaratory judgment. The court has granted Automation by Design's motion to
amend its complaint to include Raytech Corporation and Production Design
Services, Inc. as defendants. RPC has agreed to defend and provide certain
indemnity protection to Production Design Services, Inc., which manufactured
certain equipment that is allegedly involved in this court action. The outcome
of this litigation cannot be predicted, and the Company's liability or
recoveries are indeterminable at this time.

EQUITY HOLDERS LITIGATION

In February 2002, lawyers claiming to represent the Committee
of Equity Holders of Raytech Corporation filed a motion in U.S. Bankruptcy Court
to compel Raytech to either issue up to approximately 700,000 additional shares
to the pre-reorganization holders of shares in Raytech or their successors, or
to proportionately reduce the shareholdings of the general unsecured creditor
shareholders under the Plan of Reorganization. The ultimate outcome of this
matter cannot be predicted; however, it is possible that its resolution could
cause the Company to issue additional shares to the original shareholder group,
or to retire shares held by the general unsecured creditor shareholder group.
This might directly impact the earnings per share calculations of the Company.
The Bankruptcy Court denied a Company motion to dismiss this action.

The Company 1is subject to certain other legal matters that
have arisen in the ordinary course of business, and management does not expect
them to have a significant adverse effect on the results of consolidated
operations,
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financial condition or cash flow.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders
during the fourth quarter of 2003.

PART IT
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the trading symbol RAY. As of March 18, 2004, there were 1,492 holders of
record of the Company's common stock.

Information regarding the quarterly high and low sales prices for 2003
and 2002 is set forth in Note U of the Consolidated Financial Statements, Part
II, Item 8 hereof.

The Company continues not to pay dividends. As a holding company,
Raytech Corporation's ability to pay dividends is dependent upon the receipt of
dividends or other payments from its subsidiaries. The payment of dividends by
certain of the Company's subsidiaries is subject to certain restrictions under
the Company's credit agreements. See Note F of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

12
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The following table sets forth information with respect to shares of
the Company's common stock that may be issued under the Company's existing
equity compensation plans as of December 28, 2003. The Company's equity
compensation plans are described in Note L to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding Options,

Plan Category Warrants and Rights

(a)
Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders 3,035,659
Equity compensation
plans not approved
by security holders -
Total 3,035,659
_15_

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Consolidated Five-Year Financial Summary

Selected historical consolidated financial data is presented for the
five fiscal years ended December 28, 2003. The information is separated between
Predecessor Company, pre-emergence from bankruptcy,

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
of Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

$ 5.56

and Successor Company,

emergence from bankruptcy. As a result of reorganization and fresh-start
adjustments recorded in conjunction with the Company's emergence from

bankruptcy, the financial data of the Successor Company for the years ended
December 28, 2003, December 29, 2002, the period April 3,
2001 are not comparable to the Predecessor Company for the period January 1,
2001 to April 2, 2001 and for the years ended December 30,

1999.

The extraordinary gains on the settlement of liabilities recorded
during the period April 3, 2001 to December 30, 2001

(Successor Company)

period January 1, 2001 to April 2, 2001 (Predecessor Company) have been

reclassified to operating items in accordance with SFAS No. 145, "Rescission
of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No.

Technical Corrections."
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2001 to December 30,

2000 and December 31,

13 and

Number of Securi
Remaining Availa
For Future Issua
Under Equity
Compensation P1
[Excluding Securi
Reflected in
Column (a)]

1,227,000

13
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FIVE-YEAR REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands,

except per share data)

(continued)

Successor Company

December 28, December 29,

Operating Results
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating profit (loss) (1)
Interest expense (2)
Gain on settlement of debt
Reorganization items (4)
Net (loss) income (1), (4),

Share Data:
Basic (loss) earnings
per share (1), (4), (5)
Weighted average shares
Diluted (loss) earnings
per share (1), (4), (5)
Adjusted weighted average
shares

Balance sheet
Total assets
Working capital
Long-term obligations
Liabilities subject to

compromise (5)
Total shareholders'
(deficit)

(at year—end) :

(7)

equity

Property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditures
Depreciation

(3)

(5)

2003 2002
s 205,865 S 209,866
26,126 36,771
(57,473) 4,440
1,061 903
(66,443) (2,825

$ (1.59) $ (.07)
41,727 41, 608

$ (1.59) s (.07)
41,727 41, 608

s 206,024  $ 294,221
25,414 23,317
71,772 82,850
75,910 142,110

$ 8,968 S 9,648
16,107 14,943

2003 includes $48.8 million impairment charge.

the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

note in connection with a Bankruptcy Court Order.

Represents gain on the settlement of debt.

Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the Period For the Per

April 3, 2001 to January 1, 20
December 30, 2001 April 2, 200
S 146,050 $ 55,2
21,460 11,3
(3,291) 3,6
873 4

1,548
(784) 7,158, 8
(5,577) 6,995,2
$ (.13) $ 1,778.
41,527 3,9
$ (.13) $ 1,772.
41,527 3,9
S 320,788 $ 323, 6
28,157 26,7
85,410 69,3
144,083 158, 3
$ 7,488 $ 2,7
10,585 3,1

(See Notes D and E to

Predecessor Company includes cessation of interest accruals on Raymark

See Note F to the
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(4) Reorganization items - see Note X to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
(5) The year ended December 30, 2000 includes recording of the estimated

amount of allowed claims in the amount of $7.2 billion relating to
asbestos personal injury, environmental and employee benefits issues.
See Note V to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(6) Includes the reorganization and the adoption of fresh-start reporting
as a result of the Company's emergence from bankruptcy (See Notes V and
W to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(7) Includes long-term liabilities and minority interest.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements, including the related notes, included in
"Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplemental Data." This discussion contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward- looking
statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those
described in the section entitled "Caution Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements." Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which reflect our present expectations and analysis
and are inherently susceptible to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. We
assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect
actual results or changes in factors or assumptions affecting such
forward-looking statements.

Executive Summary

The Company manufactures and distributes engineered products for heat
resistant, inertia control, energy absorption and transmission applications. The
Company's operations are categorized into three business segments: Wet Friction,
Dry Friction and Aftermarket. The Wet Friction segment manufactures and
distributes automatic transmission and wet wheel brake system components to OEMs
in North America, Europe and Asia. It is the largest segment and represents 57%
of total net sales and all of the recorded losses for 2003. The Dry Friction
segment manufactures and distributes manual transmission clutch facings in
Europe and Asia to system assemblers who sell manual transmission systems to
OEMs and the aftermarket. This segment represents 21% of total net sales. The
Aftermarket segment manufactures and sources automatic transmission parts, which
are sold predominantly to warehouse distributors who sell the product
domestically and to international customers. Approximately $8.6 million of sales
in 2003 represented parts manufactured by the Wet Friction segment, which were
sold through the Aftermarket segment. The Aftermarket segment represents 22% of
total net sales. Additional information on these business segments is presented
in Note H - Segment Reporting in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

An executive summary of significant events is presented below, as well
as a tabular presentation of the effects on the Company's financial results. The
issues and events are more fully explained in the Management's Discussion and
Analysis, subsequent to this Executive Summary.

Raytech Corporation recorded a $66.4 million loss for the year ended
December 28, 2003. The loss is due to certain events that occurred during the
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2003 fiscal year.

It should be noted that in determining the value of goodwill and other
intangible assets at the time the Company emerged from bankruptcy, the projected
performance in terms of future cash flows by business segment was used to
determine the values. The valuation distribution was as follows:

_18_
Wet Friction Aftermarket Total
Technology $ 13,862 S 2,400 $ 16,262
Distribution base - 5,716 5,716
Trademarks 11,271 6,442 17,713
Goodwill 28,855 5,912 34,767
$ 53,988 $ 20,470 S 74,458

There were no goodwill or intangible values attributed to the Dry
Friction segment.

In addition to the goodwill and other intangibles, the Company
increased the book value of certain long-lived tangible assets to fair market
value 1n accordance with Statement of Position 90-7 ("SOP"). The increased
values (the "Step-Up") attributable to the long-lived assets were distributed as
follows:

Wet Friction segment $27,738
Aftermarket segment 3,085
Total long-lived tangible assets

Step-Up $30,823

There was no Step-Up in value attributed to the Dry Friction segment.

At emergence from bankruptcy, it was determined that, in order to
maintain segment performance comparability, the increased asset values
associated with the recording of the goodwill and other intangibles and the
Step-Up for the long-lived tangible assets would be maintained at a corporate
level. Segment reporting is discussed in Note H of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Therefore, although the underlying financial analysis for the
impairment charges was determined using the financial projections for Wet
Friction and Aftermarket, the majority of the charges were recorded at the
corporate level. The $8.1 million charge recorded in the Wet Friction segment
represents assets held in that grouping.

1. The performance of the Wet Friction segment was materially

impacted by lower sales volume of $12.8 million and reduced
pricing on certain of its continuing sales. The operating loss
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recorded by the segment for fiscal year 2003 of $20.0 million
compares to an operating profit of $3.3 million for the year

ended 2002, a change period over period of $23.3 million. The
operating loss in 2003 included an impairment charge of $8.1

million.

The Company, based on the deteriorating performance of the Wet
Friction segment, among other factors, developed projected
financial information, which provided a longer term view of
expected financial performance. The Company's previous
long-range plan was developed in 2000 during a much stronger
economic environment. The plan developed in 2000 served as the
basis for the application of the fresh-start accounting. The
results of the new financial plan showed substantially reduced
projected sales and profitability compared to the previous
plan. The Company used the services of an independent
consulting firm to develop valuation models based on the
financial projections. Using the new financial projections,
the Company:

A. Reviewed its recorded goodwill and other intangible
assets in

—-19-

accordance with SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets." The results of the evaluation
determined that an impairment

-20-

existed and a writeoff of goodwill and other
intangibles was appropriate. An impairment charge of
$37.8 million was recorded.

B. In conjunction with the analysis noted above, the
Company also evaluated its long-lived assets for
impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-—
Lived Assets." This review determined that $11.0
million of certain long-lived assets was impaired and
were written off.

The Company, in conjunction with the original recording of the
deferred tax asset recorded a payable to the Raytech Personal
Injury Trust (the " PI Trust") in accordance with a tax
agreement established as an element of the Chapter 11
agreement. The Company, in reviewing the financial plan noted
above, determined that collectibility of certain deferred tax
assets recorded on the Company's books was in question. See
Note I to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Based on the determination that a valuation allowance was
needed against the deferred tax assets, the Company reduced
the non-current payable to the PI Trust $30.5 million, which
created $30.5 million of other income. In addition, the
Company recorded an increase of $2.8 million to the current
payable to the PI Trust to reflect the impact of certain state
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taxes. This resulted in a reduction of $2.8 million to other
income. The net effect of these entries was the recording of
$27.7 million in other income in conjunction with a reduction
of the payable to the PI Trust.

The Company then determined the impact of all the adjustments
relating to the reduction in the deferred tax assets and
recorded a tax provision of $25.0 million. A reconciliation of
the loss from operations multiplied by the statutory federal
tax rate to the reported tax provision is summarized in Note I
in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In the quarter ended June 29, 2003, the Company recorded a
$1.8 million charge for costs incurred in compliance with the
EPA Removal Order. In the quarter ended September 28, 2003,

the Company recorded an additional $5.5 million for certain

additional remediation costs, fines and investigation costs.

These costs are more fully explained below and in Note G to

the Consolidated Financial Statements. The total impact of the

above was a $7.3 million charge to operations in 2003.

The impact of the above issues on reported financial results is set
forth in the table below.

_21_
Adjustments
Impairment
Core SFAS SFAS Deferred
Business 142 144 Taxes Environmental
Net sales $ 205,865 $ $ $ $
Cost of sales (179,739)
Gross profit 26,126
SG&A (34,795)
Operating loss before
impairment charges (8,669)
Impairment charges (37,770) (11,034)
Operating loss (8,669) (37,770) (11,034)
Other income (expense), net (1,016) 27,743
Interest expense (1,061)
Loss before provision for
environmental claims,
income taxes and
minority interest (10, 746) (37,770) (11,034) 27,743
Provision for environmental
claims (7,262)
Loss before income taxes
and minority interest (10, 7406) (37,770) (11,034) 27,743 (7,262)
Provision for income taxes (1,762) (24,983)



Edgar Filing: RAYTECH CORP - Form 10-K

Minority interest (629)

Net (loss) income $ (13,137) $(37,770) $(11,034) $ 2,760 $(7,262

The core business column above represents the results of the Company's
businesses from recurring operations, excluding the impairment charges, the
impact of recording a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets and
the environmental charges associated with the Crawfordsville, Indiana, facility.

Risk Factors

The Company's businesses are subject to certain risks, including but
not limited to those described below, that could cause material changes in its
results of operations or financial condition in the future.

- The Company's businesses are greatly affected by general
economic conditions. The Company sells components to the
automotive and heavy duty equipment industries and in large
part is dependent upon consumer demand for automobiles,
consumer confidence and business investment in heavy
equipment. The Company's businesses sell components for
transmissions and brakes to automotive and heavy duty OEMs as
well as the automotive aftermarket. The economic slowdown and
recession of the last three years have resulted in reduced
heavy equipment and passenger vehicle production in the United
States and in foreign markets and reduced demand in the
aftermarket. It is possible that OEM vehicle and equipment
production will not increase significantly in 2004 and future
years. Continuation of the economic slowdown may adversely
affect the Company's revenues in all of its business segments.

- The Company's customers are large companies under pressure to
cut component costs. The Wet Friction segment's largest
customers are experiencing margin erosion due to reduced
volume, high labor costs and intense foreign competition. The
Company is a relatively small supplier of a limited number of
components. Due to their size, the Company's customers are
often able to demand component price reductions from their
suppliers, including all segments of the Company. These
customers may also demand technological changes and quality
improvements at the

—22—

Company's expense. In addition, the trend in the automotive
aftermarket is toward longer transmission service and
replacement cycles due to improved quality. If foreign
automotive manufacturers continue to take U.S. market share
from the Company's domestic OEM customers and economic
conditions do not improve significantly, the Company's
revenues will continue to be adversely affected by these
factors.

- The Company is subject to substantial environmental
remediation obligations for past contamination that are not
yet fixed in scope or amount. The nature of environmental
contamination and its remediation are such that the amount and
nature of work necessary is often unknown until late in the
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process. The level of responsibility of the parties involved
and the level of remediation to be required by governmental
authorities is also uncertain. The Company also incurs
substantial ongoing environmental compliance costs in
operating its production facilities. Substantial unanticipated
environmental costs could adversely affect profitability. (See
"Environmental Claims" below and Note G to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.)

- Raytech's Common Stock is currently included in the Russell
3000 equity index. The Russell 3000 is a market
capitalization-weighted index of the 3,000 largest U.S.
companies. Russell reconstitutes the index annually in order
to accurately rank the 3,000 largest companies in the U.S.
stock market by market capitalization to provide a truer
reflection of stock market activity and performance. There is
a risk that Raytech may no longer be part of that index after
the next recalculation of the index in June 2004. If Raytech
ceases to be a member of the Russell 3000, its common stock
price may be adversely affected because mutual funds and other
investors who must own or wish to own the Russell 3000 index
will sell or no longer purchase Raytech common stock. The PI
Trust holds 82.9% and the EPA holds 5.5% of the outstanding
common stock of the Company at December 28, 2003.

- In 2004, worldwide increases in steel demand have led to
increased prices and concerns of a steel shortage. Potential
impacts on the Company from the current steel market
conditions could include reduced delivery levels of finished
products to Raybestos customers and lower profitability due to
higher raw material costs.

Significant Accounting Policies

The Company's significant accounting policies are detailed in Note A in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of Raytech Corporation and its subsidiaries. The
investment by third parties in Allomatic Products Company ("APC") is accounted
for as minority interest in the Consolidated Financial Statements. There are no
unconsolidated entities. The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities and the reported revenue and expenses made in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these
estimates. Significant estimates include inventory, receivable and environmental
reserves; depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets, the accruals for pension and other

—-23—

postretirement and postemployment benefits; and the recoverable value of
deferred tax assets and the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible
assets.

The most significant areas involving management's judgment are
described below.

- Accruals for environmental matters are recorded when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can
be reasonably estimated or if an amount is likely to fall within a
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range and no amount within the range can be determined to be the better
estimate, the minimum amount of the range is recorded. Remediation
obligations are not recorded on a discounted basis. Reimbursements from
insurance carriers relating to environmental matters are not recorded
until it is probable that such recoveries will be realized. The accrual
for environmental matters is discussed in this Management Discussion
and Analysis under the heading Provision for Environmental Remediation.

Pension benefits and welfare benefits represent financial obligations
that will be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet
eligibility requirements. The court ordered that Raytech was liable for
the maintenance and funding of the underfunded pension plan obligations
of Raymark Corporation. Raytech, based on the court's order, assumed
the role of plan sponsor of the Raymark plans upon the emergence from
bankruptcy in the fall of 2001. Because of the uncertainties involved
in estimating the timing and amount of future payments, significant
estimates are required to calculate pension and welfare benefit
expenses and liabilities related to the Company's plans. The Company
utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose models are used
to facilitate these calculations. Several key assumptions are used in
actuarial models to calculate pension expense and welfare benefit
expense and liability amounts recorded in the financial statements.
Management believes the three most significant variables in the pension
models are the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the
discount rate, and the expected rate of compensation increase.
Management believes the most significant assumption in the welfare
benefit model is the healthcare cost trend rate. The actuarial models
also use assumptions for various other factors, including employee
turnover, retirement age, and mortality. Company management believes
the assumptions used in the actuarial calculations are reasonable and
are within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic
locations in which we operate.

The Company provides certain warranties relating to the quality and
performance of its products. The primary product of the Company,
friction plates, is used in manual and automatic transmissions,
transfer cases and wet wheel brake systems for heavy duty equipment.
The Company maintains product liability insurance that covers personal
injuries and property damage alleged to have been caused by defective
products. The Company also has insurance to cover the costs of product
recalls arising from its German and Chinese operations. However, the
Company currently carries only limited insurance for product recall
costs in the United States, and none in the U.K., as management
believes such insurance to be cost prohibitive given the Company's
warranty experience. Warranty claims have historically been
insignificant due to the quality of the Company's products and the
impact of other potential parts interactions in these systems, which
may contribute to the root cause of any system failure. The costs in
2003 for product warranty support have been de minimis. Some sales
contracts with customers
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provide that the Company will indemnify the customer and its affiliates
against certain specified patent, copyright and trade secret
infringement claims of third parties that are based on the use or sale
of the Company components. There have been no significant claims to
date.

At December 28, 2003, the Company had goodwill and other intangibles of
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$30.6 million, which were recorded as a result of the fresh-start
accounting process in 2001. Management reviews goodwill and indefinite
lived intangibles for impairment annually or when events or
circumstances indicate that its value may have declined. The unpatented
technology and distribution base are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be
recoverable. In order to evaluate impairment, assumptions about the
future condition and operations of the reporting unit to which the
goodwill relates are made. Using these assumptions, management
determines, with the assistance of other professionals, whether an
impairment charge is required to reduce goodwill and other intangible
assets to its estimated fair value. In the case of long-lived tangible
and definite-lived intangible assets, if the undiscounted future cash
flows related to the long-lived assets are less than the assets'
carrying value, a similar impairment charge would be recorded.
Management believes that the assumptions made to evaluate goodwill,
other intangibles and tangible long-lived assets impairment are
appropriate and reasonable.

- The assessment of the amount of the Company's deferred tax assets,
which will be realizable, requires the use of significant judgments and
estimates. In making its assessment, the Company evaluates all relevant
evidence, including current industry dynamics within which the Company
operates, to determine if it would be able to realize all or a part of
its deferred tax assets in the future. Should the Company determine
that it would not be able to realize certain of its deferred tax
assets, a valuation allowance would be recorded in the period such a
determination is made.

Historical Information and Methods of Presentation

The Company, at December 28, 2003, completed its second full year of
operation as the Successor Company post-emergence from bankruptcy. In April
2001, Raytech emerged from the protection of Bankruptcy Court under Chapter 11
of Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Raytech had been under the
Chapter 11 protection since March 1989. The bankruptcy history and emergence are
described in more detail in Note V to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

As of April 2, 2001, the Company adopted fresh-start reporting pursuant
to the guidance provided by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountant's SOP No. 90-7, "Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization
Under the Bankruptcy Code". The Effective Date of the Company's emergence from
bankruptcy was considered to be the close of business on April 2, 2001 for
financial reporting purposes. The periods presented prior to April 2, 2001 have
been designated "Predecessor Company" and the periods subsequent to April 2,
2001 have been designated "Successor Company." In accordance with fresh-start
reporting, all assets and liabilities were recorded at their respective fair
values. The fair value of substantially all of the Company's long-lived assets
was determined using information provided by third-party appraisers.

The Company has determined that the most meaningful presentation of
financial information would be to provide comparative analysis of the financial
performance of the Successor Company for the fiscal years ended December 28,
2003 and December 29, 2002 and for the thirty-nine-week periods ended December
29, 2002
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and December 30, 2001.
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Additionally, the financial analysis detailed below provides a
comparative analysis of the financial performance of the Successor Company for
the period December 31, 2001 through March 31, 2002 compared to the Predecessor
Company financial performance for the period January 1, 2001 through April 1,
2001. The adjustments relating to the recording of reorganization expenses and
other fresh- start adjustments for the one-day period ended April 2, 2001 are
detailed in Note W to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company has elected not to present a comparative analysis of the
fifty- two-week period ended December 29, 2002 since such information in the
prior period would require consolidating statements of the Predecessor Company
and the Successor Company. It was determined that the significance of the
adjustments relating to the emergence from bankruptcy would render such an
analysis not meaningful.

Successor Company Discussion and Analysis for the Year Ended December 28, 2003
Compared to the Year Ended December 29, 2002

Net Sales

Worldwide net sales were $205.9 million for the year ended December 28,
2003 compared to $209.9 million for the same period in the prior year, a decline
of $4.0 million. The decline in sales reflects a decrease in the Wet Friction
segment of $12.8 million and a decrease in the Aftermarket segment of $1.3
million offset by a $9.2 million increase in the Dry Friction segment. The
remaining change is due to lower intercompany sales from Wet Friction to
Aftermarket, which are eliminated in consolidation. The detailed discussion of
the individual segment performance is presented in "Business Segment and
Geographic Area Results."

Gross Profit

The gross profit for the 2003 fiscal year of $26.1 million compares to
the gross profit of $36.8 million for fiscal 2002, a decline in gross profit of
$10.7 million or 29.1%. The gross profit percentage for 2003 of 12.7% compares
to the gross profit percentage for 2002 of 17.5%. The decline in gross profit is
due entirely to the reduced gross profit in the Wet Friction segment of $13.4
million, which was partially offset by increased gross margin in the Dry
Friction segment of $3.4 million. The gross profit analysis by business segment
is presented in "Business Segment and Geographic Area Results."

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the fiscal 2003 year
of $34.8 million compares to $32.3 million for the 2002 fiscal year, an increase
of $2.5 million or 7.7%. The increased costs were due to certain severance and
new hire costs in the Wet Friction segment of $.5 million. In addition, the Dry
Friction segment increased SG&A $1.7 million in support of the $9.2 million in
increased sales volume. The Aftermarket increased $.6 million due to primarily
providing for certain accounts receivable reserves in 2003. The above increases
were offset by $.3 million in reduced corporate costs.

Interest Expense
Interest expense for the fiscal year 2003 of $1.1 million compares to
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interest expense of $.9 million for the 2002 year. The increased interest
expense of $.2 million reflects the increased borrowings year-over-year.
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Other Income

The Company recorded other income of $26.8 million for fiscal 2003
compared to $.5 million for fiscal 2002, an increase in other income of $26.3
million. The other income component was significantly affected by the reduction
of certain net deferred tax assets and the corresponding payable to the PI
Trust, which generated other income in 2003. The payable to the PI Trust was
reduced $27.7 million due to the reduction of certain deferred tax assets, which
are more fully explained in Note I of the Consolidated Financial Statements and
within this Management's Discussion and Analysis.

In addition, the Company recorded $1.0 million of other expense during
fiscal 2003, which relates more closely to the $.5 million of other income
recorded in fiscal 2002. The change year-over-year related to the disposal of
certain property, plant and equipment in Dry Friction and Wet Friction.

Provision for Environmental Remediation

The Company recorded a provision in the second quarter of 2003 of $1.8
million for expected final remediation and administrative cost associated with
compliance with the EPA Removal, which is discussed in Note G - Litigation of
the Consolidated Financial Statements. The work required under the EPA Removal
Order has been completed at this time and a final report, which documents the
compliance actions, has been accepted by the EPA. During the thirteen-week
period ended June 29, 2003, the cost of contaminated soil removal increased over
the previously accrued amount by $1.6 million due to changes in the tonnage
required to be removed in order to comply with the EPA Removal Order compared to
the estimate. In addition, the EPA has estimated the administrative charge for
the agency's oversight of the execution of the EPA Removal Order will be
approximately $.4 million. Also, during the second quarter, the Company settled
a disputed billing amount, which arose in the first stage of the project from
the construction company hired to do the initial cleanup. The resolution of the
dispute resulted in a reduction of $.2 million of amounts previously recorded by
the Company. The construction company was replaced prior to the completion of
the first stage.

Although the Company has, to the best of its knowledge, complied fully
with the EPA Removal Order, there exists the potential for additional
remediation. Further, the Company may be required to remediate additional
contiguous parcels of property not subject to the EPA Removal Order, subject to
potential future actions taken by the EPA. The Company has recorded a provision
in the third quarter of 2003 of $2.4 million as its current estimate of the
potential cost to remediate the additional contiguous parcels of property not
subject to the EPA Removal Order as noted above. The estimate of cost noted
above is based on preliminary engineering data at a level of compliance similar
to the requirements contained in the EPA Removal Order. The Company 1is currently
negotiating a settlement with the EPA for future remediation on this site. The
outcome of the negotiation could also impact the estimated cost noted above.

On May 15, 2001, the EPA issued a Pre-filing Notice and Opportunity to
Confer to RPC. This notice stated that EPA is contemplating filing a civil
action against RPC for violations of various environmental statutes and is
offering RPC the opportunity to participate in pre-filing negotiations to
resolve this matter before initiation of litigation. The EPA stated that it has
reason to believe that RPC committed violations of the Clean Air Act, Clean
Water Act, Resource
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Conservation and Recovery Act, and Toxic Substances Control Act and that RPC
could be subject to substantial penalty. The Company had previously recorded a
$.3 million provision for settlement of these violations. By letter dated
September 3, 2003, the EPA stated that penalties for violations alleged in the
Pre-filing Notice could total approximately $180 million and suggested that the
parties resolve the Pre-filing Notice claims as follows: RPC should pay
approximately $2.4 million and undertake compliance activities, onsite
investigative work that the EPA estimated would cost approximately $1 million,
and corrective action to resolve the Pre-filing Notice, with no estimate of such
cost of corrective action. The Company recorded a provision in the third quarter
of 2003 for $3.1 million based on the notice.

The IDEM conducted a site review in May 2003 at the Crawfordsville,
Indiana, facility of RPC. In July 2003, the IDEM sent RPC a report of such
inspection. This report stated that IDEM believes that RPC has violated certain
environmental law requirements. The IDEM report stated that the agency intends
to notify enforcement authorities but did not specify any fines for the alleged
violations. In November 2003, the Company received a Notice of Violation and
Proposed Agreed Order relating to the May 2003 inspection. Subsequent to
year—-end the Company settled the order for $35 thousand.

In 2002, the Company recorded a charge of $5.4 million for compliance
with the EPA Removal Order discussed above, which increased the accrued
liability at year-end 2002 to $7.0 million.

The accrued liability at year-end 2003 is $6.2 million. See Note G -
Litigation for a full discussion of the above.

Business Segment and Geographic Area Results

The following discussion of operating results by industry segment and
geographic area related to information contained in Note H in the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Operating profit is income before income taxes and

minority interest.

Wet Friction Segment

2003 2002
Net sales $ 125,095 $ 137,930
Gross profit 6,343 19,724
Operating profit (loss) (19,972) 3,276

The segment recorded a decline in sales for fiscal 2003 of $12.8
million compared to fiscal 2002. The decline in sales is due to lower sales to
the automotive OEM component of the segment of $4.5 million due to lower demand
for the Company's product and reduced pricing. The domestic automotive
manufacturers, who represent the OEM customers of the Company, continue to lose
market share to foreign competition, and the reduced demand for the domestic
product directly impacts Raytech. A significant portion of the lost North
American market share has been consumed by Asian automakers, a market Raytech
has not penetrated. In addition, sales to the heavy duty component of the
segment declined $5.0 million compared to fiscal 2002 results. The decline
represents certain part sales lost to competition as well as price reductions.
Also, sales through the European component of this segment declined $2.2 million
compared to sales recorded in the 2002 fiscal year. The sales decline reflects
the decision by management in late
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2002 to eliminate a non-core business product line produced at the United
Kingdom facility. The additional sales shortfall reflects reduced demand for
product.

The segment recorded a decline in gross profit of $13.4 million
compared to fiscal 2002 results. The gross profit margin for 2003 of 5.1%
compares to a gross profit margin of 14.3%, a decline of 9.2 percentage points.
The decline in gross profit reflects the impact of lower sales and reduced
pricing. The lack of gross profit in this segment was the driving force in the
losses sustained by the Company in 2003.

In addition to the impact of the reduced gross profit, the segment
recorded an impairment charge of $8.1 million in fiscal 2003. The charge
reflects the reduction in the book value of certain long-lived assets in
accordance with the guidelines set forth in SFAS 144. See Note D - Property,
Plant and Equipment of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The segment also
recorded certain charges relating to the net realizable value of inventory and
other charges relating to losses, which will be incurred when certain products
are produced and sold. The provision we recorded for 2003 was $1.5 million.

The Company produces goods for its customers based on a purchase order
system, and in certain instances using longer term contracts that stipulate a
fixed selling price with no commitment as to quantity. In instances where the
product's cost exceeds the selling price, a reserve is established for the
expected loss on goods in inventory and customer purchase orders received by the
balance sheet date. The Company has not recorded an estimate of the loss over
the term of these contracts since the quantity and mix of parts is not known and
the future production costs will be impacted by, among other things, changes in
economic conditions and management's actions, including expected cost savings
initiatives.

The operating loss for the 2003 fiscal year reflects the loss from
operations of $11.9 million and the impairment charge of $8.1 million for an
operating loss of $20.0 million. The segment had operating profit in fiscal 2002
of $3.3 million, a decline year-over-year of $23.3 million.

The Company is reviewing alternatives to improve the operating results
for this segment. Alternatives being discussed include:

- Creating a stronger focus on European Wet Friction
operations by transferring the management
responsibility for this component to the Dry Friction
management group, which is headquartered in Germany.
Subsequent to year-end, the Company transferred the
responsibility for the European Wet Friction group to
the Dry Friction management group. In 2004, the
results will be reported in that segment.

- Conducting a facilities utilization review to
determine if improved performance can be obtained
through consolidating certain facilities with a focus
on improved overhead absorption. Additionally, the
Company has identified in excess of $12.0 million of
cost savings projects it will implement in 2004.

- Reviewing the need for separate research and
development facilities and the potential to reduce
costs while maintaining Raytech technological
capabilities. Subsequent to year-end, the technical
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facility staff was reduced, and the sales staff is
relocating to rented office space. The automotive OEM
research and development efforts will be supported at
the Crawfordsville facility. It is

—-29-—

anticipated that the cost savings inherent in this
consolidation will approximate $.5 million.

These and other items will be explored by management in order to
improve on fiscal 2003 results.

Aftermarket Segment

2003 2002
Net sales S 44,931 S 46,192
Gross profit 12,725 12,993
Operating profit 7,171 7,990

This segment experienced a reduction in net sales of $1.3 million or
2.7% in fiscal 2003 compared to the 2002 year. The sales reduction reflects the
lower demand for the Company's products due to long-lived parts in the OEM
product due primarily to improved quality. In addition, the segment produces
assembled kits for transmission rebuilding. Kit sales in 2003 were $1.5 million
lower than the 2002 year sales.
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The gross profit declined $.3 million or 2.1% in the 2003 year compared
to 2002. The gross profit percentage for 2003 of 28.3% compared to 28.1% in the
2002 year. The decrease in gross profit is due to the decrease in sales volume.
The segment was able to maintain its gross profit percentage, in spite of the
lower sales.

The operating profit declined $.8 million in fiscal 2003 compared to
2002. The decrease in operating profit is due to the decrease in gross profit
and a $.6 million increase in SG&A expense. The increase in SG&A expense is due
to an additional provision for accounts receivable reserves.

The segment includes APC, which is 57% owned by the Company, 40% owned
by Raymark, a related party, and 3% owned by certain employees of the Company.
Net sales for APC were $30.0 million in 2003 and $31.1 million in 2002.
Operating profit for APC was $2.5 million in 2003 and $3.9 million in 2002. APC
is consolidated in the financial results and a minority interest is recorded to
reflect the minority shareholders' interest in APC. A minority interest charge
is recorded for the minority's percent of income.

Dry Friction

2003 2002
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Net sales $ 44,453 $ 35,244
Gross profit 12,284 8,856
Operating profit 3,395 2,452

The segment reported an increase in net sales of $9.2 million or 26.1%
for fiscal 2003 compared to the 2002 year. The sales increase reflects an
increase in sales from the European Dry Friction component of this segment of
$8.2 million and an increase of $1.0 million through the Asian component of the
segment. The European increase reflects a volume increase of $2.2 million and an
increase due to the impact of foreign currency translation of $6.0 million. The
increase in the sales through the Asian operation are all volume related as the
operation, which is in China, is not impacted by translation since the currency
is fixed relative to the U.S. dollar. The sales growth reflects increased market
share as the Company's technology and competitive pricing continues to provide
growth in this segment.

The gross profit improved $3.4 million or 39% in fiscal 2003 compared
to the 2002 year. The gross profit percentage for fiscal 2003 of 27.6% compares
to 25.1%, an increase of 2.5 percentage points. The increase both in dollars and
gross margin percent reflects the strong gross profit being realized in the
Asian operation of 33.3% combined with the gross profit being realized in the
European operation of 23.9%. The Asian facility continues to grow as demand in
China and other countries served by the facility continues to provide sales
opportunities.

The operating profit increased $.9 million or 38.5% providing an
operating profit percentage of 7.6% compared to an operating profit percentage
of 7.0%, an increase of .6 percentage points. This segment represents
substantial growth and profitability opportunities for the Company as the
product technology and production methods continue to improve.

Corporate
The Company does not distribute the costs of operating the corporate
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headquarters and certain other costs, which it maintains in its corporate
group. In April 2001, the date the Company emerged from the Chapter 11
proceedings, it determined that the increased property, plant and equipment
value and the increase in recorded goodwill and other intangibles determined as
part of the requirement of SOP 90-7 would be maintained at the corporate level.
It was determined that this would provide historical comparability at the
operating segment level.

Therefore, certain charges related to the impairments, more fully
described in Notes D and E of the Consolidated Financial Statements were

recorded as expense in the corporate group as opposed to the operating segments.

In reviewing the impact of the corporate group on segment results, the
following should be noted:

- The operating loss of $29.7 million recorded as corporate
expenses includes the following (in millions):
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Impairment charge S (40.7)
Depreciation and amortization (4.7)
Environmental cost (7.5)
Corporate headquarters cost (6.1)
Reduction of payable to PI Trust 27.7
Other income 1.6

S (29.7)

Note the other income is due to the reduction in the payable
to the PI

Trust payable due to the adjustment to deferred
assets. See the other income discussion previous in this
Management's Discussion and Analysis.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Future Liquidity

The Company recorded a net loss for the year ended December 28, 2003 of
$66.4 million. The impact on liquidity as measured by the net cash provided by
operating activities reflects a positive cash flow of $2.6 million. The impact
can be summarized as follows (in millions):

Net loss S (66.4)
Non-cash charges
Depreciation and amortization 18.3
Impairment charges 48.8
Other working capital 1.9
Total non-cash charges 69.0

Net cash provided by
operating activities $ 2.6

The non-cash charges relating to the impairment are detailed in Note D
and
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Note E to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash flows from operating activities for fiscal 2002 were $13.0
million. The decline in cash flows from operating activities year-over-year is
$10.3 million. The decline in cash flow reflects the losses recorded in the
business due to the poor performance of the Wet Friction segment.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents at December 28, 2003 totaled
$16.4 million compared to $20.0 million at December 29, 2002, a decrease of $3.6
million. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2003 totaled $9.0 million compared to
$9.6 million for the 2002 fiscal year. In both years, the capital expenditures
were comparable to planned spending amounts.

Changes in the components of working capital for fiscal 2003 provided
increased cash flow from reduced accounts receivable of $2.7 million, income tax
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receivable of $3.7 million and inventories $4.2 million. Other current assets,
including restricted cash, required the use of cash of $2.2 million and accounts
payable of $.8 million. The reduction in the payable to the PI Trust of $27.7
million represents a non-cash reduction in the liability, which is explained in
Note I to the Consolidated Financial Statements and within this Management's
Discussion and Analysis.

The total borrowings at year-end 2003 of $22.4 million compares to
total borrowings of $19.4 million at year-end 2002, an increase of $3.0 million
period- over-period. The available lines of credit at December 28, 2003 of $10.6
million compares to $8.8 million at year-end 2002, an increase in availability
of $1.8 million. Full details of the Company's debt are contained in Note F -
Debt to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, refer to Note N -
Commitments to the Consolidated Financial Statements for disclosure of future
obligations and commitments.

In connection with the recorded loss of $66.4 million, the Company
requested and obtained a waiver of the material adverse change clauses contained
in the domestic bank agreements.

In summary of the above, the cash and available lines of credit at
December 28, 2003 were $27.0 million compared to $28.8 million at year-end 2002,
a decrease in cash and available lines of credit of $1.8 million.

—-33-

Items which will potentially require cash payments in 2004 other than
normal operating expenses include the following.

- The Company has recorded an accrued liability of $6.2 million
for certain environmental matters more fully discussed in this
section of the Form 10-K and in Note G to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. It is not certain at this time when
these funds will be expended. There exists the potential that
all or a portion of the funds will be spent in 2004.

—-34-

- The Company assumed the liability for the Raymark pension
plans as part of the Chapter 11 reorganization. The plans,
which are discussed as part of Note M to the Consolidated
Financial Statements are under funded and the Company, through
an agreement with the Internal Revenue Service, is providing
both current contributions and catch-up contributions for
prior year funding deficiencies. The expected funding for the
plans in 2004 will be approximately $4.4 million. The funding
in fiscal 2003 was $6.9 million.

- Certain tax issues are discussed in Note I to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, which provides detail concerning the
status of the current Internal Revenue Service audit and the
use of certain future tax benefits.

Management believes that existing cash balances, the Company's lending
facilities and cash flow from operations during 2004 will be sufficient to meet
all of the Company's obligations arising in the normal course of business,
including anticipated capital investments. However, the ability of the Company
to utilize its lending facilities is dependent on the Company's ability to meet
its financial forecasts for 2004, which is not assured, and to meet the
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financial covenants contained in its credit facilities. These forecasts include
certain revenue assumptions generally consistent with the prior year for the Wet
Friction (on a comparable basis) and Aftermarket segments and modest growth in
the Dry Friction segment, as well as certain cost-saving initiatives. If the
Company does not comply with the financial covenants, an event of default would
occur and could result in the acceleration of the Company's indebtedness under
its domestic credit facilities. If that were to occur, the ability of the
Company to continue would be dependent upon, among other things, its ability to
amend the credit facilities, enact certain actions to generate cash and/or to
seek additional alternative financing from other lenders.

Contractual Obligations

Securities and Exchange Commission regulations require that we present
our contractual obligations, and we have done so in the table that follows.
However, our future cash flow prospects cannot reasonably be assessed based on
such obligations. The most significant factor affecting our future cash flows is
our ability to earn and collect cash from customers. Future cash outflows,
whether they are contractual obligations or not, will vary based on our future
needs. While some such outflows are completely fixed (for example, commitments
to repay principal and interest on fixed-rate borrowings) most depend on future
events (for example, supply agreements to purchase commodity raw materials at

quantities to be determined in the future at then-market prices). Further,
normal operations involve significant expenditures that are not based on
"commitments," for example, expenditures for income taxes or for payroll.

Currently, certain sales agreements exist that will result in losses due to the
cost of production exceeding the agreed upon selling price. See the Wet Friction
segment discussion for the impact on financial results of these sales
agreements.

As defined by reporting regulations, our consolidated contractual
obligations as of December 28, 2003, follow:

_35_
Less Than 1-3 3-5 More Than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in thousands)
Long-term debt (a) $22,125 S 7,934 $ 6,060 $7,429 S 702
Capital lease obligations (b) 321 158 16l 2 -
Operating leases (c) 4,455 886 1,204 525 1,840
Purchase obligations (d) - - - - -
Other liabilities (e)
Pension (f) 5,190 5,190 - - -
Postretirement (g) 613 613 - - -
Environmental (h) 6,174 - 6,174 - -
Total $38,878 $ 14,781 $13,599 $7,956 $2,542

(a) Bank debt, see Note F to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(b) Capital lease obligations - see Note F to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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(c) Future minimum lease payments under operating leases, principally for
office and warehouse space.

(d) The Company does not have any material purchase obligations. Contracts for
the purchase of materials are binding with regard to price but not
quantity.

(e) Because their future outflows are uncertain, the following non-current
liabilities are excluded from the table above: pension obligation,
postretirement benefits, deferred income taxes and the deferred payable to
the PI Trust.

(f) Represents the Company's estimated 2004 contribution to fund its pension
plans. The pension plans are described in Note M of the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Company has not presented pension contribution
amounts for the periods beyond 2004 because they cannot be accurately
estimated at this time. The Company's long-term pension obligation at
December 28, 2003 is $13.5 million.

(g) Represents the current portion of the Company's postretirement obligation.
The postretirement plan is described in Note M to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Company has not presented the long-term portion
of its post retirement obligation, $15.1 million at December 28, 2003. The
timing of these payments cannot be accurately estimated.

(h) Represents the Company's current estimate of costs to satisfy potential
environmental fines, studies and remediation.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company has no off balance sheet arrangements.
Financial Risks

The company maintains lines of credit with United States and foreign
banks, as well as other creditors detailed in Note F in the consolidated
financial statements. The company is naturally exposed to various interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk in its normal course of business.

The company effectively manages its accounts receivable as evidenced by
the average days sales in trade receivables of 43 days. This allows for minimum
borrowings in supporting inventory and trade receivables. Management does not
anticipate a significant change in fiscal policy in any of its borrowing markets
in 2004 given current economic conditions. Further, the company can reduce the
short-term impact of interest rate fluctuation through deferral of capital.
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Investment Should the Need Arise.

The Company maintains borrowings in both fixed rate and variable rate
debt instruments. The fixed rate debt at year-end 2003 of $6.4 million had rates
of interest that ranged from 2.5% to 6.2%. The variable rate debt at year-end
2003 of $15.7 million had rates of interest that ranged from 2.7% to 4.8%. The
variable debt reprices either at prime rate or the eurodollar rate. The Company
has not entered into any interest rate management programs such as interest rate
swaps or other derivative type transactions. The amount of exposure in the
short- term, which could be created by increases in rates is not considered
significant by management.

The local currencies of the Company's foreign subsidiaries have been
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designated as their functional currencies. Accordingly, financial statements of
foreign operations are translated using the exchange rate at the balance sheet
date for assets and liabilities, historical exchange rates for elements of
stockholders' equity and an average exchange rate in effect during the year for
revenues and expenses. Where possible, the Company attempts to mitigate foreign
currency translation effects by borrowing in local currencies to fund
operations. The Company does not believe that the fluctuation in foreign
currency will have a material adverse effect on the Company's overall financial
condition. Additionally, the Company does not enter into agreements to manage
any currency transaction risks.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued
SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections." The Statement rescinds Statement 4,
which required all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt to be aggregated
and, when material, classified as an extraordinary item net of the related
income tax effect. SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS 13 to require that certain
lease modifications having economic effect similar to sale-leaseback
transactions be accounted for in the same manner as sale-leaseback transactions.
The Company has adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 145 and has restated prior
periods to classify gains on the extinguishment of debt as extraordinary only
when in accordance with APB Opinion No. 30.

In December 2003, FASB revised and reissued FASB Interpretation No.
("FIN") 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51." The interpretation requires that the
assets, liabilities and results of the activity of variable interest entities be
consolidated into the financial statements by the primary beneficiaries if the
entities do not effectively disperse the risks and rewards of ownership among
the owners and other parties involved. The provisions of FIN No. 46 must be
applied no later than as of the end of the first reporting period ending after
March 15, 2004. Management has determined that the adoption of FIN No. 46 will
have no significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In April, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement
133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." This
Statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts and for hedging activities under FASB Statement No. 133. SFAS No. 149
is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, with
all provisions applied prospectively. The Company has determined that the
statement
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is not currently applicable to the Company. The Company will evaluate contracts
entered or modified in the future and record them in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 149.

In May, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equities."
This Statement establishes standards regarding the manner in which an issuer
classifies and measures certain types of financial instruments having
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 is generally
effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003
and for contracts in existence at the start of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003 for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments
issued by non-public companies; however, the effective date is for fiscal
periods beginning after December 15, 2004. The Company currently does not have
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financial instruments with the characteristics described in the standard. The
Company will record financial instruments entered into or modified in future
periods in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 150.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003),
"Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits." This
Statement revises disclosures about pension plans and other postretirement
benefit plans. This Statement is effective for financial statements with fiscal
years ended after December 15, 2003. The Company has adopted the additional
disclosure requirements of this Statement. The additional disclosures are
presented in Note M of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Successor Company Discussion and Analysis for the Thirty-Nine-Week Period Ended
December 29, 2002 Compared to the Thirty-Nine-Week Period Ended
December 30, 2001

In developing a comparative analysis for the thirty-nine-week periods
ended December 29, 2002 and December 30, 2001, the following table sets forth
the quantitative information for the two periods.

(in thousands)
Successor Company
Thirty-Nine Week Period Ended

December 29, 2002 December 30, 2001

Sales $ 157,157 $ 146,050
Cost of sales (130,911) (124,590)
Gross profit 26,246 21,460
SG&A (24,737) (24,782)
Other operating income - 31
Operating profit (loss) 1,509 (3,291)
Interest expense (626) (873)
Reorganization items - (784)
Gain on settlement of liabilities - 1,548
Other (2) 598
Provision for environmental and other claims (5,400) (5,860)
Loss before income taxes and minority interest (4,519) (8,662)
Income tax benefit 1,007 3,970
Loss before minority interest (3,512) (4,692)
Minority interest (643) (885)
Net loss $  (4,155) $  (5,577)
Net Sales

Worldwide net sales were $157.2 million for the thirty-nine-week period
ended December 29, 2002 compared to $146.1 million for the same period in the
The detailed discussion for

prior year, an increase of $11.1 million or 7.6%.
the increased sales period-over-period is contained in the Business Segment

section.

Gross Profit
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The gross profit for the thirty-nine-week period ended December 29,
2002 of $26.2 million compares to the gross profit of $21.5 million for the same
period in the prior year, an increase of $4.7 million or 22%. Gross profit as a
percent of sales for the 2002 period is 16.7% compared to 14.7% for the same
thirty-nine-week period in 2001, an increase of 2.0 percentage points. The gross
profit in the 2001 period was reduced by $5.9 million due to a step up in
inventory value to fair value at April 2, 2001, which was an effect of the
application of fresh-start accounting. The gross profit comparative
period-to-period, taking into consideration the inventory adjustment, shows a
margin decline of 2.0%. This decline is due substantially to certain startup
costs associated with a new product line in the Wet Friction segment.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the thirty-nine-week
period ended December 29, 2002 were $24.7 million compared to $24.8 million in
the same period in the prior year, a decrease of $.1 million or 0.4%. The SG&A
costs in the 2002 period include approximately $1.5 million for severance costs
for two officers of the Company and $21 thousand for employment related costs
associated with the new hires. SG&A expense as a percent of sales in the 2002
period of 15.7% compares to 17.0% in the thirty-nine-week period ended December
30, 2001.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the thirty-nine-week period ended December 29,
2002 totaled $.6 million compared to $.9 million for the same period in the
prior year. Interest expense represents less than 1% of total expenses in both
periods.

Reorganization Item

In connection with the bankruptcy proceedings, Raytech incurred
approximately $784 thousand in professional fees during the thirty-nine-week
period ended December 30, 2001. These fees related to accounting, legal,
consulting and other miscellaneous services.

Provision for Environmental Remediation

The Company recorded, in the thirty-nine-week period ended December 29,
2002, a charge of $5.4 million for the completion of the remediation project
related to the Crawfordsville, Indiana, manufacturing facility. The accrued
liability for the completion of this project at fiscal 2002 year-end is $7.0
million. The historical and legal discussion of this project is contained in
Note E to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. This remediation
project, which is the subject of a unilateral administrative order of the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, requires the removal of polychlorinated
biphenyls (PCB's), which were found in a drainage ditch near the Indiana
facility. The remediation project consists of three separate segments of the
ditch. The first segment was completed in the summer of 2002. The second segment
was started in the fall of 2002 and completed in February 2003. The work on the
final segment is expected to begin in the spring of 2003 and be completed by the
fall of 2003. The completion of the third segment will fulfill the Company's
obligation under the U.S. EPA Order. In addition to the current year charge of
$5.4 million, the Company recorded a charge for remediation of $5.9 million in
2001 and $3.0 million in 2000. The Company is currently pursuing legal remedies
against various parties to recover the cost of the remediation. These legal
actions are discussed in the
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litigation section of this document.
Income Tax (Provision) Benefit

For tax reporting purposes, the Company's emergence from bankruptcy did
not create a new tax reporting entity. Accordingly, the adjustments to adopt
fresh- start accounting are not applicable for the Company's tax reporting.
Therefore, with the exception of goodwill, these adjustments have created new
deferred tax items.

The effective tax rate for the thirty-nine-week period ended December
29, 2002 was a 22.3% benefit compared to a 45.8% benefit in the same period in
the prior year.

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 29, 2002 was 5.0%
compared to 2.3% for the year ended December 30, 2001. In calculating the
effective tax rate, the distinction between Successor Company and Predecessor
Company is not relevant as explained above; therefore, the taxable income for
book purposes in 2001 was $7.2 billion. The income tax provision for the current
year is $.08 million on a pretax loss of $1.7 million.

The Company's effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory
benefit of 35% due primarily to the effect of providing for certain state taxes
and the effect of an increase in the tax benefits payable to the PI Trust.

In connection with the Company's emergence from bankruptcy, the Company
recorded an income tax receivable and payable to the PI Trust in the amount of
$38 million resulting from net operating losses arising from the transfer of
stock and cash to the PI Trust carried back to 1991 through 2000. Pursuant to
the Tax Benefits Assignment and Assumption Agreement (the "Agreement"), all tax
benefits received by the Company due to the reorganization are to be passed onto
the PI Trust as received. During 2002, Raytech received tax refunds of $33.1
million, which were paid to the PI Trust. Additionally, future payments to the
PI Trust and others will create additional tax deductions, which will inure to
the benefit of the PI Trust in accordance with the Agreement. These include
deductions for payments to the PI Trust of tax benefits associated with the
utilization of the operating losses created by the reorganization, and
contributions made to the Raymark pension plan. To the extent that Raytech
Corporation generates losses in future periods, exclusive of losses attributable
to the payments discussed above, those losses will be retained by the Company.
The method of allocation in utilizing future operating losses between the PI
Trust and Raytech Corporation has not been determined at this time. The Company
has tax loss carryforwards of $74.8 million and tax credit carryforwards of $1.2
million at December 29, 2002. The net operating loss carryforwards are allocated
between Raytech Corporation and the PI Trust in the amounts of $2.8 million and
$72.0 million, respectively. Additional tax recoveries expected to be received
in future periods are shown as deferred tax assets and a deferred payable to the
PI Trust which amounted to $42.4 million at December 29, 2002 and $41.8 million
at December 30, 2001.

The Company is under audit for 1996 through 2001. Any tax assessment,
up to the amount of the refunds received, arising from this audit, or any other
years in the carryback period, are, pursuant to the Agreement, the
responsibility of the PI Trust and will therefore reduce the deferred tax asset
associated with, and liability payable to, the PI Trust.

At December 29, 2002, the Company had foreign loss carryforwards of
$4.1
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million (Germany $.6 million and U.K. $3.5 million), which do not expire. A full
valuation allowance has been provided against the tax benefit of the U.K.
carryforwards due to uncertainty of future profitability of these operations.

In 2000, the Company recorded a deferred tax asset of $2.767 billion
relating to the tax effects of the liabilities subject to compromise. Total
deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2000 amounted to $2.772
billion. Based on its historical domestic taxable income, the Company expected
to realize approximately $140 million of the deferred tax asset through the
ten-year carryback of the previously paid domestic taxes and the expected tax
benefits during the twenty-year carryforward period. In addition, the Company
has recognized a deferred tax asset in connection with German loss
carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company in 2000 had recorded a valuation
allowance of $2.633 billion against the deferred tax asset to state it at its
expected net realizable value. The Plan became effective during 2001 and the
liabilities subject to compromise were settled for less than the recorded amount
of allowed claims. The net deferred tax asset was adjusted accordingly.

The Company owns 57% of the stock of Allomatic Products Company
("APC") . The Company has not recorded a deferred tax liability for the
undistributed earnings of APC since management expects that those earnings will
be distributed to the Company in a tax-free transaction. However, the deferred
tax liability on the undistributed earnings of APC would be approximately $1.3
million at December 29, 2002, if all of APC's earnings were to be distributed
through the distribution of dividends.

Gain on Settlement of Debt

A note payable to the former AFM principal dated April 1998 was settled
in October 2001. The settlement agreement required a payment of $3.1 million.
Prior to the settlement, the Company had a note payable of $3.0 million and
accrued interest of $1.6 million recorded. The Company has recorded a gain on
the settlement of this debt in the fourth quarter of 2001 in the amount of $1.5
million, which was comprised substantially of accrued interest.

Business Segment and Geographic Area Results

The following discussion of operating results by industry segment and
geographic area related to information contained in Note H in the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Operating profit is income before income taxes, minority
interest, provision for asbestos litigation, provision for environmental claims
and extraordinary items.

(in thousands)
Thirty-Nine-Week Period Ended

December 29, 2002 December 30, 2001

Sales Summary

Wet Friction $ 103,582 $ 95,512
Aftermarket 33,708 34,384
Dry Friction 27,091 22,074
Eliminations (7,224) (5,920)
Net sales $ 157,157 $ 146,050
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Wet Friction Segment
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The Wet Friction segment recorded sales of $103.6 million for the
thirty- nine-week period ended December 29, 2002 compared to $95.5 million for
the same period in the prior year, an increase of $8.1 million or 8.5%. The
increase was due to increased sales to the automotive OEM component of the Wet
Friction segment. The increased sales were substantially the result of acquiring
additional business with General Motors, which provided additional sales of $6.0
million, and a stronger automotive production environment in the
thirty-nine-week period in 2002, which contributed additional sales of $3.3
million, compared to the automotive market in the same period in 2001. Sales
growth in the automotive OEM component was offset by a decline in sales of $1.2
million in the heavy duty component of this segment due to the slow economy in
construction and mining and strong competition.
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The operating profit for the thirty-nine-week period ended December 29,
2002 of $1.8 million compares to the operating profit of $3.4 million for the
same period in the prior year. The reduced operating profit is the result of
startup costs associated with the expanded automotive OEM business acquired in
2002.

Aftermarket Segment

The Aftermarket segment recorded sales of $33.7 million for the thirty-
nine-week period ended December 29, 2002 compared to $34.4 million for the same
period in the prior year, a decrease of $.7 million or 2.0%. Operating profit
for this thirty-nine-week period of $5.4 million compares to $6.0 million for
the same period in the prior year, a decrease of $.6 million, a reduction of
10.0%. The reduced operating profit is attributable to the lower sales
period-over- period and increased SG&A expenses.

Dry Friction Segment

The Dry Friction segment recorded sales of $27.1 million for the
thirty- nine-week period ended December 29, 2002 compared to $22.1 million for
the same period in the prior year, an increase of $5.0 million or 22.6%. The
sales increase was due to improved sales through the production facility in
China, which accounted for a substantial portion of the sales growth. Sales
through the production facility in Germany measured in the euro, which is the
functional currency, were EUR21.6 million compared to EUR20.5 million in the
same period in the prior year. The operating profits for the Dry Friction
segment for the thirty-nine-week period of $.9 million compares to operating
profit of $.6 million in the same period in the prior year, an increase of $.3
million. Operating profit measured in euros for the German operation was EUR.7
million compared to EUR.8 million in 2001. The increased profit is attributable
to the growth in China.

Results of Operations for the Successor Company for the Period December 31, 2001
through March 31, 2002 and Predecessor Company for the Period January 1, 2001
through April 1, 2001

Net Sales
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Worldwide net sales of $52.7 million for the thirteen-week period ended
March 31, 2002 compared to $55.2 million for the same period in the prior year
for a decline of $2.5 million or 4.5%. The details of the sales performance are
presented below distinguishing the sales performance in each business segment.

The Wet Friction segment reported sales of $34.3 million in the first
quarter of 2002 compared to $37.0 million in the same period in the prior year,
a decline of $2.7 million, representing a significant portion of the sales
decline for the Company in the period. The primary market impacted is the heavy
duty component of this segment in both Europe and domestically. The automobile
OEM component of this segment reflected sales at the same level as 2001.

The Aftermarket segment recorded net sales of $12.5 million for the
thirteen-week period ended March 31, 2002 compared to $13.1 million for the same
period in the prior year, a decline of $.6 million or 4.6%. The sales decline
was due to a variety of issues including the mild winter weather, better
inventory management at our customers and the improved quality of components at
the OEM level.
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The Dry Friction segment recorded sales of $8.2 million for the first
quarter of 2002 compared to $8.1 million in the same period in the prior year.
The sales reflect increased sales through the operation in China of $1.3 million
offset by reduced sales through the operation in Germany of approximately the
same amount. The reduction in German sales includes a negative currency
translation impact of approximately $.4 million.

Gross Profit

The Company recorded gross profit of $10.5 million for the
thirteen-week period ended March 31, 2002 on sales of $52.7 million yielding a
gross margin percentage of 20.0%. This compares to a gross profit of $11.4
million for the same period in the prior year on sales of $55.2 million, a gross
profit margin of 20.6%. The gross profit in 2002 was reduced by $1.1 million due
to increased depreciation and amortization as a result of the application of
fresh-start accounting post first quarter of 2001. The impact of the increased
amortization and depreciation was a reduction in the gross profit margin of
2.1%. On a comparable basis, the gross margin has increased period-over-period
1.5 percentage points due to cost reduction programs instituted throughout 2001
and the first quarter of 2002.

Selling, General and Administrative

The selling, general and administrative expenses for the thirteen-week
period ended March 31, 2002 were $7.6 million compared to $7.7 million for the
same period in the prior year, a reduction of $.1 million or 1.3%. The lower
costs reflect the impact of certain cost reduction programs implemented in 2001
balanced with Raytech's commitment to investing in technology for future growth.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the first quarter of $.3 million compares to
interest expense, excluding Raymark interest, of $.4 million in the same period
in the prior year, a reduction of 25.0%. The reduction is due to lower rates in
2002 on domestic debt. The interest rate on foreign debt is approximately the
same.

Operating Profits

The following discussion of operating profits by industry segment
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relates to information contained in Note H - Segment Reporting to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Operating profit is income before provision
for asbestos litigation, provision for environmental and other claims, income
taxes, minority interest.

Operating profit of $2.8 million was recorded for the first quarter of
2002 compared to $3.5 million for the same period in the prior year, a decrease
of $.7 million or 20.0%. The operating profit was negatively affected by the
reduced sales period-over-period of $2.5 million. Additionally, operating
profits were reduced by the impact of fresh-start accounting due to the increase
in depreciation and amortization of $1.1 million in comparing first quarter 2002
to the first quarter of 2001.

The Wet Friction segment posted operating profits of $1.5 million, an
increase of $.2 million over the same period in the prior year, or an increase
of 15.4%. This increase was accomplished on lower sales of $2.7 million and was
due
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to implementing cost reduction programs in 2001 and 2002.

The Aftermarket segment recorded operating profit for the quarter of
$2.6 million compared to $2.1 million in the same period in the prior year, an
increase of $.5 million or 23.8%. The improved operating income performance
despite a decrease in sales is due to cost reduction programs initiated in 2001
and 2002 coupled with improved material pricing. Additionally, management works
closely with the work force in this segment to maximize the peaks and valleys of
manufacturing and shipping product in the aftermarket industry.

The Dry Friction segment recorded operating profit of $.8 million for
the thirteen-week period ended March 31, 2002 compared to $.8 million in the
same period in the prior year. The operating income reflects improved operating
profits from the operation in China offset by reduced operating profit in
Europe. The decline in Europe is due primarily to lower volume sales.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for the thirteen-week period ended March 31,
2002 is 38.5% compared to an effective rate of 2.3% for the same period in the
prior year. The rate for the current period reflects a statutory federal rate
adjusted for state and foreign taxes. The rate differs from the 2001 rate by
36.2 percentage points caused primarily by certain adjustments in the prior
period related to the bankruptcy process.

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

See Item 7.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Financial Statements:
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Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002
(Successor Company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
December 28, 2003, December 29, 2002, for the period April 3,
2001 to December 30, 2001 (Successor Company), and for the
period January 1, 2001 to April 2, 2001

(Predecessor Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 28, 2003, December 29, 2002, for the period April 3,
2001 to December 30, 2001 (Successor Company), and for the
period January 1, 2001 to April 2, 2001

(Predecessor Company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for
the years ended December 28, 2003, December 29, 2002, for the

period April 3, 2001 to December 30, 2001 (Successor Company),
and for the period January 1,

2001 to April 2, 2001 (Predecessor Company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Auditors
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RAYTECH CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share data)

At Fiscal Year Ended

42

43

44

45

46-95

96

December 28,

2003

December 2
2002

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Trade accounts receivable, less allowance
of $1,250 for 2003 and $824 for 2002
Inventories, net
Income tax receivable
Other current assets

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property, plant and equipment
Goodwill, net
Other intangible assets, net

Deferred income taxes
Other assets

126,059
(36,824)
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Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Notes payable and current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of pension obligation
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Payable to the PI Trust

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Pension obligation

Postretirement benefits other than pension
Deferred payable to the PI Trust

Deferred income taxes

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities
Minority interest
Commitments and contingencies

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital stock
Cumulative preferred stock, no par value
5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding
Common stock, par value $1.00, 50,000,000 shares
authorized, 41,737,306 and 41,701,554 issued and
outstanding for 2003 and 2002, respectively
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$ 206,024

41,737

117,574

(74,845)
(8,556)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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RAYTECH CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Successor Company

4,2
12,8
13,8
42,3

December 28,

December 29,

For the Period

Apr.

3,

42

2001 to
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Fiscal Year 2003 2002 Dec. 30, 2001

Net sales
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and
administrative expenses
Impairment charge
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Long-lived tangible assets
Other operating income, net

Operating (loss) profit

Currency transaction (loss)
gain

Interest expense - Raymark

Interest expense

Reorganization items

Gain on settlement of debt

Other income, net

Loss (income) before provision
for environmental claims,
income taxes and minority
interest

Provision for environmental
claims

(Loss) income before income
taxes and minority interest
Income tax (provision) benefit

(Loss) income before minority
interest
Minority interest

Net (loss) income

Basic (loss) earnings
per share

Diluted (loss) earnings
per share

The accompanying notes are an

$ 205,865
(179,739)

integral part of these

—-48—

$ 209,866
(173,095)

statements.

S 146,050
(124,590)
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RAYTECH CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

Fiscal Year

Successor Company

December 28,
2003

December 29,

2002

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net
(loss) income to net cash
provided by (used in) operations:
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)
Inventory fair value adjustments
Depreciation and amortization

Impairment charge - goodwill
Impairment charge - other intangibles
Impairment charge - long-lived

tangible assets
Reduction of payable to PI Trust
Reorganization items, fresh-start
adjustments
Gain on settlement of debt
Income applicable to minority
interest
Loss on sale of fixed assets, net
Other non-cash items
Changes in operating assets
and liabilities:
Restricted cash
Trade accounts receivable
Inventories
Income tax receivable
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Payable to the PI Trust
Other long-term liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds on sales of property, plant
and equipment

Net cash used in investing
activities:

Cash flows from financing activities:

$ (66,443)

27,701

18,335
28,855
8,915

11,034
(27,743)

1,055
91
267

3,369
(3,218)
(1,720)
33,084
92
(1,362)
1,524
5,428
(32,487)
(5,444)

For the
Apr. 3,
Dec. 30
$ (
(
1
(
(
1
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Net (payments) borrowings (on)

from short-term notes (6,749) 2,579 (
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 11,709 240
Principal payments on long-term debt (2,902) (1,547) (
Payments on borrowings from Raymark - -
Cash overdrafts - -
Exercise of stock options 152 540
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities 2,210 1,812 (
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 421 274
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (3,570) 5,520
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of period 19,983 14,463
Cash and cash equivalents at end
of period $ 16,413 S 19,983 $ 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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RAYTECH CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands,

except shares)

(Accumulated Accumulated Tre
Additional Deficit) Other Stock
Common Paid in Retained Comprehensive (2,13
Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Sh
PREDECESSOR COMPANY:
Balance,
December 31, S 5,651 S 70,631 $(7,049,0641) S (1,218) S
Comprehensive income:
Net income 6,995,257
Changes during
the period (284)
Total comprehensive
income 6,995,257 (284)
Reorganization 35,870 46,200 54,384 1,502
Balance,
April 2, 2001 S 41,521 $ 116,831 S - S - S

SUCCESSOR COMPANY :
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Balance
April 2, 2001 S 41,521 S 116,831 S -

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (5,577)
Changes during
the period

Total comprehensive

loss (5,577)
Stock options exercised

(6,596 shares) 7 12
Balance,
December 30, 2001 41,528 $116,843 (5,577)

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (2,825)
Changes during
the year

Total comprehensive
loss (2,825)
Stock options exercised
(173,034 shares) 173 367
Tax benefits associated
with stock options 248
Balance,
December 29, 2002 41,701 $117,458 (8,402)

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (66,443)
Changes during
the year

Total comprehensive

loss (66,443)
Stock options exercised

(35,752 shares) 36 116
Balance,

December 28, 2003 S 41,737 $ 117,574 S (74,845)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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RAYTECH CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(dollars in thousands, unless otherwise noted, except per share data)

Introduction

(8,711)

(8,711)

64

91

46



Edgar Filing: RAYTECH CORP - Form 10-K

Raytech Corporation ("Raytech" or the "Company")manufactures and
distributes engineered products for heat resistant, inertia control, energy
absorption and transmission applications. The Company's operations are
categorized into three business segments: Wet Friction, Dry Friction and
Aftermarket. These segments are more fully described in Note H - Segment
Reporting. Demand for the Company's product is derived primarily from the
automotive original equipment markets for both manual and automatic
transmissions, the original equipment markets for agriculture, construction and
mining equipment and the aftermarket for primarily automatic transmission
products. All of these markets are highly competitive and can be highly
influenced by prevailing economic conditions.

The Company emerged from bankruptcy in April 2001, see "Bankruptcy and
Fresh-Start Accounting" in Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Upon emergence from bankruptcy in 2001, the Company was held liable for the
maintenance and funding of the underfunded pension obligations of Raymark
Corporation ("Raymark"). The Company, based on the court's order, has assumed
the role of plan sponsor for the Raymark plans. As a condition of the
reorganization plan all tax benefits received by the Company as a result of the
reorganization inure to the benefit of the Raytech Personal Injury Trust ("PI
Trust") .

Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company's accounting policies are detailed below. The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of Raytech Corporation and its
subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in
consolidation. The investment by third parties in Allomatic Products Company
("APC") is accounted for as minority interest in the consolidated financial
statements. There are no unconsolidated entities. The preparation of the
consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities and the reported revenue and expenses made in
the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates. Significant estimates include inventory, receivable and
environmental reserves; depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets; the accruals for pension and other postretirement and
postemployment benefits; the recoverable value of deferred tax assets and the
carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets.

- Significant areas involving management's judgment are described below.
Pension benefits and welfare benefits represent financial obligations that will
be ultimately settled in the future with employees who meet eligibility
requirements. Because of the uncertainties involved in estimating the timing and
amount of future payments, significant estimates are required to calculate
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pension and welfare benefit expenses and liabilities related to the Company's
plans. The Company utilizes the services of independent actuaries, whose models
are used to facilitate

Note A, continued

these calculations. Several key assumptions are used in actuarial
models to calculate pension expense and welfare benefit expense and
liability amounts recorded in the financial statements. Management
believes the three most significant variables in the pension models are
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, the discount
rate, and the expected rate of compensation increase. Management

47



Edgar Filing: RAYTECH CORP - Form 10-K

believes the most significant assumption in the welfare benefit model
is the healthcare cost trend rate. The actuarial models also use
assumptions for various other factors, including employee turnover,
retirement age, and mortality. Company management believes the
assumptions used in the actuarial calculations are reasonable and are
within accepted practices in each of the respective geographic
locations in which we operate.

The Company provides certain warranties relating to the quality and
performance of its products. The primary product of the Company,
friction plates, is used in manual and automatic transmissions,
transfer cases and wet wheel brake systems for heavy duty equipment.
The Company maintains product liability insurance that covers personal
injuries and property damage alleged to have been caused by defective
products. The Company also has insurance to cover the costs of product
recalls arising from its German and Chinese operations. However, the
Company currently carries only limited insurance for product recall
costs in the United States, and none in the U.K., as management
believes such insurance to be cost prohibitive given the Company's
warranty experience. Warranty claims have historically not been
significant due to the quality of the Company's products and the impact
of other potential parts interactions in these systems, which may
contribute to the root cause of any system failure. The costs in 2003
for product warranty support have been de minimis. Some sales contracts
with customers provide that the Company will indemnify the customer and
its affiliates against certain specified patent, copyright and trade
secret infringement claims of third parties that are based on the use
or sale of the Company components. There have been no significant
claims to date.

The assessment of the amount of the Company's deferred tax assets,
which will be realizable, requires the use of significant judgments and
estimates. In making its assessment, the Company evaluates all relevant
evidence, including current industry dynamics within which the Company
operates, to determine if it would be able to realize all or a part of
its deferred tax assets in the future. Should the Company determine
that it would not be able to realize certain of its deferred tax
assets, a valuation allowance would be recorded in the period such a
determination is made.

Accruals for environmental matters are recorded when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can
be
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reasonably estimated or if an amount is likely to fall within a range
and no amount within the range can be determined to be the better
estimate, the minimum amount of the range is recorded. Environmental
remediation obligations are not recorded on a discounted basis.
Revenues from insurance carriers relating to environmental matters are
not recorded

Note A, continued
until it is probable that such recoveries will be realized.
At December 28, 2003, the Company had goodwill and other intangibles of
$30.6 million, which were recorded as a result of the fresh-start

accounting process in 2001. Management reviews goodwill and indefinite
lived intangibles for impairment annually or when events or
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circumstances indicate that its value may have declined. In order to
evaluate the impairment assumptions the Company develops a set of
financial projections. Based on these financial projections, the
Company, with the assistance of a financial adviser, using various
valuation methods, the Company determines whether an impairment charge
is required to reduce goodwill and other intangible assets to its
estimated fair value. In the case of long-lived tangible assets, if the
undiscounted cash flows related to the long-lived assets are less than
the assets' carrying value, a similar impairment charge would be
recorded. Management believes that the assumptions made to evaluate the
impairment of goodwill and other intangibles are appropriate and
reasonable. However, changes in circumstances or conditions affecting
these assumptions could result in impairment charges in future periods
that may be material.

Fiscal Year

The Company's fiscal year is a 52-53-week period ending on the Sunday
closest to December 31st. All three years presented included 52 weeks.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value
and consist of certificates of deposit with maturities of three months
or less when purchased.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market with cost
determined primarily by using the first in, first out ("FIFO") method.
Costs included in inventories consist of materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead, which are related to the purchase and
production of inventories.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, property, plant and equipment was
recorded on April 2, 2001 based on their fair values determined by
independent appraisals. Additions subsequent to April 2, 2001 have been
recorded at cost. Depreciation is based on the estimated service life
of the related asset and is provided using the straight line method.
Maintenance and repairs that do not increase the useful life of an
asset are expensed as incurred. Interest 1is capitalized on major
capital expenditures during the period of construction and to the date
such asset
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is placed in service. Upon disposal of property, plant and equipment,
the appropriate accounts are reduced by the related costs and
accumulated depreciation. The resulting gains or losses are reflected
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. When such events or circumstances arise, an estimate of
the future cash

continued

flows produced by an asset, or the appropriate grouping of assets, is
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compared to the asset's carrying value to determine if an impairment
exists pursuant to the requirements of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets." If the asset is determined to be
impaired, the impairment loss is measured based on the excess of its
carrying value over its fair value. See Note D for a description of
impairment charges recognized during the fourth quarter of 2003.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of goodwill, trademarks, unpatented
technology and distribution base. Effective with the period beginning
April 3, 2001, the Company has adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets." In accordance with this standard, goodwill
and trademarks have been classified as indefinite-lived assets no
longer subject to amortization. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142
in fiscal 2001, intangible assets with an indefinite life were
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of not more than 40
years. Unpatented technology and distribution base are classified as
definite-lived assets and are being amortized on a straight line basis
with estimated lives ranging from 6 to 20 years. Indefinite-lived
Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be
impaired. The unpatented technology and distribution base are reviewed
for improvement whenever events or circumstances indicate that their
carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment testing is done at
the reporting unit level for goodwill. Reporting units are one level
below the business segment level but can be combined when reporting
units within the same segment have similar economic characteristics. An
goodwill impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount
of the reporting unit's net assets exceeds the estimated fair value of
the reporting unit. The estimated fair value of the reporting unit is
determined using a future undiscounted cash flow analysis. See Note E -
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets for a description of impairment
charges recognized during the fourth quarter of 2003.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method in accounting for income taxes.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for temporary
differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their
reported amounts in the financial statements, using statutory tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to
reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in the results of operations in the period
that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded to
reduce the carrying amounts of
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deferred tax assets unless it is more likely than not that such assets
will be realized.

The Company has not provided for deferred U.S. taxes on the
undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries since a taxable
distribution of those earnings is not anticipated. In addition,
deferred U.S. income taxes have not been provided on the cumulative
translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive
loss in shareholders' equity due to management's decision to
permanently reinvest those earnings. Further, the Company has not
provided for deferred U.S. taxes on the undistributed earnings of APC,
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its majority-owned subsidiary, since management expects
continued

that these earnings will be distributed to the Company in a tax-free
transaction.

Pursuant to the Tax Benefits Assignment and Assumption Agreement, all
tax benefits received by the Company due to the reorganization are to
be passed onto the PI Trust as received.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed based on the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of
common and dilutive potential common shares during the year.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

The local currency is the functional currency for the Company's foreign
subsidiaries. The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are
translated to U.S. dollars using the period-end exchange rate for
assets and liabilities, historical exchange rates for elements of
stockholders' equity and an average exchange rate for each period for
revenues and expenses. The effects of translating the Company's foreign
subsidiaries' financial statements are recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders' equity. Gains and
losses on intercompany foreign currency transactions that are of a
long-term investment nature are reported as translation adjustments as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders'
equity.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from the sale of the Company's products is recognized upon
shipment to the customer when title and risk of loss has transferred.
Substantially all of the Company's revenues are derived from fixed
price purchase orders. Costs and related expenses to manufacture the
products are recorded as costs of sales when the related revenue is
recognized. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts
based on historical experience and believes that collections of
revenues, net of the allowance for doubtful accounts, is reasonably
assured.
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The Company produces goods for its customers based on a purchase order
system, and in certain instances using longer term contracts that
stipulate a fixed selling price with no commitment as to quantity. In
instances where the product's cost exceeds the selling price, a reserve
is established for the expected loss on goods in inventory and customer
purchase orders received by the balance sheet date. The Company has not
recorded an estimate of the loss over the term of these contracts since
the quantity and mix of parts is not known and that future production
costs will be impacted by, among other things, changes in economic
conditions and management's actions, including expected cost savings
initiatives.

continued
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the minimum amount of the range is recorded. Environmental remediation
obligations are not recorded on a discounted basis. Revenues from
insurance carriers relating to environmental matters are not recorded
until it is probable that such recoveries will be realized.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic
value-based method of accounting in accordance with Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, under which no compensation cost is
recognized for stock options granted at fair market value. Had
compensation costs of stock options been determined under a fair value
alternative method as stated in SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure, an Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 123," the Company would have been required to record
the fair value for such options and employees' purchase rights, and
record such amount in the consolidated financial statements as
compensation expense. Pro forma stock-based employee compensation
costs, net (loss) income and (loss) earnings per share, as they would
have been recognized if the fair value method had been applied to all
awards, are presented in the table below.

Successor Company Predecessor

—————————————————————————— For the Period For the P
December 28, December 29, Apr. 3, 2001 to January 1,
2003 2002 Dec. 30, 2001 to April 2

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

(loss) income:

As reported S (66,443) $ (2,825) S (5,577) $6,995,
Deduct: Total stock-based employee
Compensation expense determined

under fair value based method
for all awards, net of related

tax effects (2,424) - -

Pro forma $ (68,867) $ (2,825) $ (5,577) $6,995,
Basic (loss) earnings per share:

As reported S (1.59) S (.07) S (.13) S 1,778

Pro forma $ (1.65) $ (.07) $ (.13) $ 1,778
Diluted (loss) earnings per share:

As reported S (1.59) S (.07) S (.13) S 1,772

Pro forma $ (1.65) $ (.07) $ (.13) $ 1,772

_5 6_

During the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company granted options
for 1,601,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $5.70
per share. The fair value of these options was estimated at $3.22 per
common share on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions: expected volatility of
56.7%, dividend yield of 0.00%, risk free interest rate of 3.60% and an
expected life of the options of six years. During the second quarter of

52



Edgar Filing: RAYTECH CORP - Form 10-K

fiscal 2003, the Company granted options for 1,172,000 shares of common
stock with an exercise price of $5.70 per share. The fair value of
these options was estimated at $2.05 per common share on the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions: expected volatility of 62.30%, dividend yield of 0.00%,
risk free interest rate of 2.84% and an expected life of the options of
six years.

There was no pro forma impact on net (loss) income for the fiscal years
2002 or 2001. Options outstanding during these years were fully vested
in fiscal 1999.

Note A, continued
- Property Taxes

The Company provides for property taxes based on the most current
information available, including actual taxes paid in the most current
year, coupled with information which would impact the expected tax rate
and property valuations. In instances where uncertainty exists as to
the estimated amount of taxes, the Company's best judgment is used
considering all information known at the time.

- Reclassification

The extraordinary gains on the settlement of liabilities recorded
during the period April 3, 2001 to December 30, 2001 in the amount of
$1.5 million and the period January 1, 2001 to April 2, 2001 in the
amount of $7.1 billion have been reclassified to operating items in
accordance with the SFAS No. 145, "Recision of FASB Statements No. 4,
44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical
Corrections." See Note F - Debt and Note X - Reorganization Items for a
further description of these items.

- Bankruptcy and Fresh-Start Accounting

Raytech was incorporated in June 1986 in Delaware and held as a
subsidiary of Raymark. In October 1986, Raytech became the publicly
traded (NYSE) holding company of Raymark stock through a triangular
merger restructuring plan approved by Raymark's shareholders whereby
each share of common stock of Raymark was automatically converted into
a share of Raytech common stock. In May 1988, Raytech divested all of
the Raymark stock. In accordance with the restructuring plan, Raytech,
through its subsidiaries, purchased certain non- asbestos businesses of
Raymark. Despite the restructuring plan implementation and subsequent
divestiture of Raymark, Raytech was named a co-defendant with Raymark
and other named defendants in numerous asbestos-related lawsuits as a
successor in liability to Raymark. In order to stay the
asbestos-related litigation, on March 10, 1989, Raytech filed a
petition seeking relief under Chapter 11 of Title 11, United States
Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court, District

-57-

of Connecticut.

The Effective Date of the Company's emergence from bankruptcy was April
18, 2001; however, for accounting purposes, the Company has accounted
for the reorganization and fresh-start adjustments on April 2, 2001.
All financial information prior to that date is presented as pertaining
to the Predecessor Company while all financial information after that
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date is presented as pertaining to the Successor Company. Accordingly,
the Statement of Operations includes the results of the reorganization
and fresh-start adjustments in the period January 1, 2001 to April 2,
2001 as Predecessor Company information. Consequently, after giving
effect to the reorganization and fresh-start adjustments, the financial
statements of the Successor Company are not comparable to those of the
Predecessor Company. For financial reporting purposes, the results of
the Predecessor Company and the Successor Company cannot be combined
for the 2001 fiscal year.

- Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued
SFAS No. 145, "Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections." The
Statement rescinds Statement 4, which required all gains and losses
from extinguishment of

Note A, continued

debt to be aggregated and, when material, classified as an
extraordinary item net of the related income tax effect. SFAS No. 145
also amends SFAS 13 to require that certain lease modifications having
economic effect similar to sale-leaseback transactions be accounted for
in the same manner as sale-leaseback transactions. The Company has
adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 145 and has restated prior periods
to classify gains on the extinguishment of debt as extraordinary only
when in accordance with APB Opinion No. 30.

In December 2003, FASB revised and reissued FASB Interpretation No.
("FIN") 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51." The
interpretation requires that the assets, liabilities and results of the
activity of variable interest entities be consolidated into the
financial statements by the primary beneficiaries if the entities do
not effectively disperse the risks and rewards of ownership among the
owners and other parties involved. The provisions of FIN No. 46 must be
applied no later than as of the end of the first reporting period
ending after March 15, 2004. Management has determined that the
adoption of FIN No. 46 will have no significant impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

In April, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement
133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." This
Statement amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities under FASB
Statement No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into
or modified after June 30, 2003, with all provisions applied
prospectively. The Company has determined that the statement is not
currently applicable to the Company.

_58_
The Company will evaluate contracts entered or modified in the future
and record them in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 149.
In May, 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and

Equities." This Statement establishes standards regarding the manner in
which an issuer classifies and measures certain types of financial
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instruments having characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS
No. 150 is generally effective for financial instruments entered into
or modified after May 31, 2003 and for contracts in existence at the
start of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 for
mandatorily redeemable financial instruments issued by non-public
companies; however, the effective date is for fiscal periods beginning
after December 15, 2004. The Company currently does not have financial
instruments with the characteristics described in the standard. The
Company will record financial instruments entered into or modified in
future periods in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 150.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003),
"Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits." This Statement revises disclosures about pension plans and
other postretirement benefit plans. This Statement is effective for
financial statements with fiscal years ended after December 15, 2003.
The Company has adopted the

continued
additional disclosure requirements of this Statement. The additional

disclosures are presented in Note M of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Note B — Restricted Cash

Restricted cash relates to the following:

December 28, December 29,
2003 2002
Payable to the PI Trust $ 3,182 S 350
Letters of credit 1,630 1,617
Other 60 60
S 4,872 $ 2,027

The payable to the PI Trust consists of tax refunds and other funds

received by the Company that will be paid to the PI Trust at a future date.

The letters of credit collateralize certain obligations relating

primarily to workers' compensation.

Note C -

—-590-

Inventories

Net Inventories

Inventories, net of inventory reserves, are as follows:

December 28, December 29,
2003 2002
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Raw material $11,056 $ 11,049
Work in process 8,871 8,349
Finished goods 10,950 14,659

$30,877 $ 34,057

Inventory Reserves

Successor Company Predecessor Company

—————————————————————————— For the Period For the Period

December 28, December 29, Apr. 3, 2001 to January 1, 2001

2003 2002 Dec. 30, 2001 to April 2, 2001
Beginning balance $ 3,174 S 2,427 S 2,901 $ 3,025
Provisions 1,666 858 407 30
Charge-offs (252) (111) (881) (154)
Ending balance $ 4,588 $ 3,174 S 2,427 $ 2,901

In reviewing certain sales contracts, the Company determined the agreed
upon selling price was less than cost and established an inventory reserve of
$1.2 million with a corresponding charge to cost of goods sold.

In connection with the implementation of fresh-start reporting on April
2, 2001, the Company adjusted the value of its inventories by $5.9 million on
that date to their estimated selling prices less costs to complete, cost of
disposal and a reasonable profit allowance for the completing and selling effort
as required by fresh-start reporting. This adjustment of $5.9 million was
recorded as cost of sales in the Statement of Operations during the second
quarter of 2001 as the inventory was sold.

-60—

Note D - Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, at cost, is summarized as follows:

December 28, December 29,

2003 2002
Land S 3,798 S 3,999
Buildings and improvements 28,676 30,920
Machinery and equipment 89,129 90,728
Capital leases 773 796
Construction in progress 3,683 4,935

126,059 131,378

Less accumulated depreciation (36,824) (25,257)
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Net property, plant and equipment $ 89,235 $106,121

The estimated useful lives for buildings and improvements range from 5
to 40 years; the estimated useful lives for machinery and equipment range from 3
to 20 years.

Capital leases consist primarily of automobiles, telephones and
computer equipment and are amortized over the economic life of the assets or the
term of the leases, whichever is shorter.

In connection with the implementation of fresh-start reporting on April
2, 2001, the Company recorded the property, plant and equipment at their fair
values as determined by independent third-party appraisers.

In fiscal 2003, the Wet Friction segment had an operating loss. Due to
the operating loss, the Company determined that an impairment analysis was
appropriate and engaged the services of a third party valuation firm to evaluate
the carrying value of its long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144. The
Company developed a future cash flow analysis and based on the current year loss
and future cash flow analysis, it was determined that the carrying value of
certain asset groupings in the Wet Friction segment and certain assets contained
in the corporate asset grouping exceeded their fair value and that an impairment
had occurred. The Company has recorded a non- cash impairment of $8.1 million
relating to the Wet Friction assets and $2.9 million relating to the corporate
assets, for a total impairment of $11.0 million, reducing the carrying value of
its property, plant and equipment.

Maintenance and repairs charged to expense amounted to approximately
$9,468 for 2003, $9,355 for 2002, $6,651 for the period April 3, 2001 to
December 30, 2001 (Successor Company), and $2,028 for the period January 1, 2001
to April 2, 2001 (Predecessor Company). Depreciation expense relating to
property, plant and equipment was $16,107 for the year ended December 28, 2003,
$14,943 for the year ended 2002, $10,585 for the period April 3, 2001 to
December 30, 2001 (Successor Company), and $3,180 for the period January 1, 2001
to April 2, 2001 (Predecessor Company) .

—-61—

Note E - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations" and
No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." SFAS No. 141 requires that the
purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations initiated
after June 30, 2001, establishes specific criteria for the recognition of
intangible assets separately from goodwill, and requires that unallocated
negative goodwill be written off immediately as an extraordinary gain instead of
being deferred and amortized. SFAS No. 142 addresses the accounting for goodwill
and intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition. Under SFAS No. 142,
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles need to be reviewed for impairment at
least annually. In addition, the amortization period of intangible assets with
finite lives will no longer be limited to forty years. As discussed in Note W,
the Company adopted fresh-start reporting as described in the AICPA Statement of
Position ("SOP") No. 90-7, "Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization
Under the Bankruptcy Code." SOP 90-7 requires that any change in accounting
principles that will be required within the twelve months following the adoption
of fresh-start reporting should be adopted at that time. Accordingly, the
Company adopted SFAS No. 141 and No. 142 as of April 2, 2001. All intangible
assets and goodwill have been valued at fair value as of the date of fresh-start
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reporting.

In fiscal 2003, the Wet Friction segment recorded an operating loss.
Due to the loss, the Company determined that an impairment analysis was
appropriate and engaged the services of a third party valuation firm to evaluate
the carrying value of its goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with SFAS
No. 142. The Company developed a future cash flow analysis and based on the
current year loss and future cash flow analysis, it was determined that its
carrying value of the Wet Friction segment, including step-up adjustments
recorded upon emergence from bankruptcy, exceeded the fair value and that an
impairment had occurred. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge
of $37.8 million as detailed in the table below. The goodwill and other
intangible assets are recorded in the corporate asset group. All impairment
charges related to the impairment of intangible assets are presented as a
component of corporate expense.

The changes in the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible
assets for the year ended December 28, 2003 are as follows:

Unpatented Distribution

Technology Base Trademarks Goodwill Total

Balance at December 29, 2002 $ 12,866 $ 5,216 $ 17,713 $ 34,767 $ 70,562
Amortization (1,941) (287) - (2,228)
Impairment charge (1,902) (7,013) (28,855) (37,770)
Balance at December 28, 2003 $ 9,023 $ 4,929 $ 10,700 $ 5,912 $ 30,564

The following table represents the carrying value of goodwill and other
intangible assets at December 28, 2003 and December 29, 2002.

_62_
Note E, continued
December 28, 2003 December 29, 2002
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Finite life intangible assets:
Unpatented technology $ 14,360 $ 5,337 $ 16,262 $ 3,396
Distribution base 5,716 787 5,716 500
Sub-total $ 20,076 $ 6,124 $ 21,978 $ 3,896
Indefinite life intangible
assets:
Trademarks $ 10,700 $ 17,713
Goodwill
Wet Friction S - $ 28,855
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Aftermarket 5,912 5,912
Subtotal $ 5,912 $ 34,767
Intangible assets, net $ 30,564 $ 70,562

The weighted-average amortization periods for the unpatented technology and the
distribution base are between 6 and 20 years. Amortization expense for 2003,
2002 and the period April 3, 2001 to December 30, 2001 amounted to $2.2 million,
$2.2 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Estimated annual amortization expense is as follows:

For the year ending:

2004 $ 1,922
2005 1,922
2006 1,922
2007 1,622
2008 1,522

Reported net income presented exclusive of amortization expense
(including any related tax effects) recognized in prior periods relating to
goodwill of the Predecessor Company would have been:

Predecessor Company
Period from
January 1, 2001
to April 1, 2001

Reported net income $ 1,715
Add back goodwill amortization 207
Adjusted net income $ 1,922

Basic earnings per share:

Reported net income $ .49
Goodwill amortization .06
Adjusted net income S .55

Diluted earnings per share:

Reported net income S .48

Goodwill amortization .06

Adjusted net income $ .54
_63_

Note F - Debt
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Debt, at fiscal year-end, consists of the following:

December 28, 2003 December 29, 2002
Current Non—-Current Total Current Non—-Current Total
Domestic bank debt
Line of credit $ 3,604 S - $ 3,604 s 8,556 S - $ 8,556
Term loans
Wet Friction 1,055 4,133 5,188 2,750 - 2,750
Aftermarket 996 5,921 6,917 - - -
Total domestic bank debt 5,655 10,054 15,709 11,3006 - 11,306
Foreign bank debt
Line of credit - - - 1,449 - 1,449
Term loans
Dry Friction Europe 979 4,137 5,116 680 4,095 4,775
Dry Friction Asia 1,300 - 1,300 1,480 - 1,480
Total foreign bank debt 2,279 4,137 6,416 3,609 4,095 7,704
Total bank debt 7,934 14,191 22,125 14,915 4,095 19,010
Leases 158 163 321 176 198 374
Total borrowings S 8,092 $14,354 $ 22,446 $ 15,0091 S 4,293 $ 19,384

The maturities of debt, as of December 28, 2003, are as follows:

2004 $ 8,092
2005 3,158
2006 3,063
2007 2,969
2008 4,462
Thereafter 702

$22,446

The domestic bank debt of the Company is at variable interest rates,
and the carrying amount approximates fair value. The Company maintains certain
of its foreign borrowings in fixed rate debt which approximates market value.

Domestic Bank Debt

The Company, thro